Fusion surface models: 2+1d lattice models from fusion 2-categories

Kansei Inamura¹ and Kantaro Ohmori²

Institute for Solid State Physics, University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8581, Japan
 Department of Physics, The University of Tokyo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

Abstract

We construct (2+1)-dimensional lattice systems, which we call fusion surface models. These models have finite non-invertible symmetries described by general fusion 2-categories. Our method can be applied to build microscopic models with, for example, anomalous or non-anomalous one-form symmetries, 2-group symmetries, or noninvertible one-form symmetries that capture non-abelian anyon statistics. The construction of these models generalizes the construction of the 1+1d anyon chains formalized by Aasen, Fendley, and Mong. Along with the fusion surface models, we also obtain the corresponding three-dimensional classical statistical models, which are 3d analogues of the 2d Aasen-Fendley-Mong height models. In the construction, the "symmetry TFTs" for fusion 2-category symmetries play an important role.

| Copyright K. Inamura and K. Ohmori. | Received | 30-06-2023 | |
|--|------------|-------------------|-----------|
| This work is licensed under the Creative Commons | Accepted | 07-05-2024 | Cheak for |
| Attribution 4.0 International License. | Published | 03-06-2024 | updates |
| Published by the SciPost Foundation. | doi:10.214 | 68/SciPostPhys.16 | .6.143 |

Contents

| 1 | Introduction and summary | | 2 |
|---|----------------------------|---|----|
| | 1.1 | Motivation | 2 |
| | 1.2 | Review of the Aasen-Fendley-Mong model | 4 |
| | 1.3 | Generalization to 2+1 dimensions | 11 |
| | | 1.3.1 Fusion surface models | 13 |
| | 1.4 | Structure of the paper | 17 |
| 2 | Preli | iminaries | 17 |
| | 2.1 | Fusion 2-categories | 18 |
| | 2.2 | Douglas-Reutter TFT | 21 |
| 3 | 3d height models | | 23 |
| | 3.1 | 3d classical statistical models from 4d Douglas-Reutter TFT | 23 |
| | 3.2 | 3d height models on a triangulated cubic lattice | 24 |
| 4 | 2+1d fusion surface models | | 27 |
| | 4.1 | 2+1d fusion surface models from 3d height models | 27 |
| | 4.2 | Unitarity of the model | 31 |
| | 4.3 | Graphical representation | 33 |

| | 4.4 | Fusion 2-category symmetry | 38 |
|------------|-----|---|----|
| | | 4.4.1 General case | 38 |
| | | 4.4.2 Non-invertible 1-form symmetry | 38 |
| | | 4.4.3 Anomalous finite group symmetry | 40 |
| 5 Examples | | 41 | |
| | 5.1 | Lattice models with anomalous invertible 1-form symmetries | 42 |
| | 5.2 | Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field | 44 |
| | 5.3 | Non-chiral topological phases with fusion 2-category symmetries | 46 |
| References | | | 49 |

1 Introduction and summary

1.1 Motivation

Symmetry plays a fundamental role in both constructing and analyzing models of physical systems. Recently, various generalizations of symmetry have been introduced, including higherform symmetry [1], higher-group symmetry [2–5], and even more general non-invertible symmetry [6, 7]. These generalized symmetries greatly extend the applicability of various symmetry-based techniques in theoretical physics, and have therefore been one of the main topics in the field.

The core principle of the generalizations is the correspondence between symmetry operations and *topological defects/operators* [1], see Figure 1 for an illustration of this correspondence. In particular, symmetry operations for a conventional symmetry correspond to invertible topological defects with codimension one, which form a group under the fusion. The generalizations of a conventional symmetry are achieved by relaxing the requirements for the dimensionality and invertibility of topological defects: higher-form symmetries are generated by topological defects with higher codimensions and non-invertible symmetries are generated by topological defects that do not have their inverses.¹ We note that topological defects associated with a non-invertible symmetry can have arbitrary codimensions, and therefore non-invertible symmetries include higher-form symmetries are no longer described by groups in general because the fusion rules of the associated topological defects are not necessarily group-like.

In 1+1 dimensions, finite non-invertible symmetries are generally described by fusion categories [6, 7, 9] (see also [10] for an earlier reference), which are natural generalizations of finite groups.² For this reason, finite non-invertible symmetries in 1+1 dimensions are called fusion category symmetries [19]. Fusion category symmetries are particularly well studied in the context of rational conformal field theories [7, 20–26] and topological field theories (TFTs) [6, 10, 19, 27–30]. See also, e.g., [31–52] for recent developments. Although these symmetries were originally discussed in the context of quantum field theories (QFTs), they

¹One can further generalize the notion of symmetry by allowing the defects to be non-topological along some spatial directions. Symmetries generated by such defects are called subsystem symmetries, which are typically exhibited by fractonic systems [8]. We do not investigate this direction in this paper.

²Precisely, while finite non-invertible symmetries of 1+1d bosonic systems are described by fusion categories, finite non-invertible symmetries of 1+1d fermionic systems are described by superfusion categories [11–18]. In this paper, we will only consider bosonic systems. Technically, all fusion categories and fusion 2-categories that we will discuss in this paper are supposed to be spherical. We also emphasize that we do not consider non-unitary theories where symmetry categories can be non-semisimple.



Twisted boundary condition

Symmetry action on the state space

Figure 1: A timelike insertion of a symmetry defect realizes a twisted boundary condition, while a spacelike insertion does a symmetry operation on a state.

also exist on the lattice. In particular, we can systematically construct 1+1d lattice models with general fusion category symmetries, which are known as anyon chain models [33,53,54].

In higher dimensions, finite non-invertible symmetries in unitary theories are expected to be described by fusion higher categories [55–58].³ Since the discovery of concrete realizations of such symmetries in lattice models [59] and QFTs [60–64], non-invertible symmetries in higher dimensions have been studied intensively in various contexts, see, e.g., [59–121] for recent advances and also [122, 123] for earlier discussions. However, systematic construction of physical systems with general fusion higher category symmetries is still lacking.

Given the generalization of symmetry, one may wonder whether we can utilize it to build physical models with a given generalized symmetry. This question was answered affirmatively by Aasen, Fendley, and Mong for fusion category symmetries in 1+1 dimensions [33]:⁴ they constructed explicit two-dimensional classical statistical models acted upon by a given fusion category. The corresponding 1+1d quantum lattice models turn out to be the anyon chain models, which have the given fusion category symmetries. In this paper, we generalize their construction to 2+1 dimensions. Namely, we construct three-dimensional classical statistical models and the corresponding (2+1)-dimensional quantum lattice systems that are acted upon by a given fusion 2-category. We call our 2+1d quantum lattice models the *fusion surface models*, which are (2+1)-dimensional analogues of the 1+1d anyon chains. By construction, the fusion surface models have finite non-invertible symmetries described by general fusion 2-categories, i.e., fusion 2-category symmetries.

The fusion 2-category symmetry in 2+1 dimensions has a particular significance: it includes the symmetry of anyons in topological orders as a special example. Within a generalized Landau paradigm, the existence of anyons in topologically ordered phases can be regarded as a consequence of a spontaneously broken higher (potentially non-invertible) symmetry [69]. Therefore, the fusion surface models with non-invertible higher symmetry provide candidates that might realize a given topological order. In other words, if the model has a gapped point, it is guaranteed that the IR phase contains the anyons we used as an input to the model. While our models include the Levin-Wen string-net models [125] that realize non-chiral topological orders, it probably requires a numerical study to see whether our model can realize chiral topological orders.

Another example of a fusion 2-category symmetry is a finite 2-group (a.k.a. invertible) symmetry with and without an 't Hooft anomaly [2, 3, 5]. A 2-group is a symmetry structure where a conventional symmetry is non-trivially intertwined with an invertible higher symme-

³The definition of fusion *n*-category for n = 2 is given in [55] in detail, and it will also be reviewed in Section 2.1. For $n \ge 3$, the definition is proposed in [57, Definition II.9], upon the technical assumption mentioned in Remark I.2 of the reference.

⁴A statistical-mechanical model, which was defined following a similar conceptual framework, has been previously presented in [124].



Figure 2: Data defining a fusion (1-)category C. (a) Topological lines in 1+1 dimensions define objects of C. In particular, simple (i.e., indecomposable) topological lines correspond to simple objects, whereas superpositions of them correspond to non-simple objects. (b) Topological line-changing operators define morphisms between topological lines. (c) The stacking of two topological lines *a* and *b* is denoted by $a \otimes b$ and it is in general a superposition of simple topological lines. (d) By locally fusing two lines *a* and *b*, we get topological junction operators $(v_{a,b}^c)_i$ connecting three lines *a*, *b* and *c*. The number of independent junction operators is equal to the fusion coefficient N_{ab}^c .



Figure 3: The *F*-move in a fusion category.

try. Our method naturally works for constructing lattice models that possess such a symmetry structure.

In the rest of the introduction, we briefly review the fusion category symmetry in 1+1 dimensions and the Freed-Teleman-Aasen-Fendley-Mong (FT-AFM) construction [33, 124].⁵ This would serve as a stepping stone to the (2+1)-dimensional case, which is a straightforward generalization of the (1+1)-dimensional case but is apparently more complicated. After reviewing the FT-AFM construction in 1+1d, we will outline the construction of the 2+1d fusion surface models.

1.2 Review of the Aasen-Fendley-Mong model

Fusion category. In 1+1 dimensions, a finite generalized symmetry is described by a fusion category, which is a generalization of a finite group. It describes the algebraic structure of topological defects of codimension one, or equivalently topological lines, in 1+1 dimensions.⁶ More explicitly, a fusion category C contains the following data (see, e.g., [6,7] for a detailed explanation and more examples for physicists):

• Simp C: The *finite* set of (isomorphism classes of) "simple objects". A simple object $a \in \text{Simp } C$ represents an oriented indecomposable topological defect line in 1+1d. There is a special object $I \in \text{Simp } C$ representing the trivial defect. See Figure 2a.

⁵We slightly generalize the presentation in [33] in that we allow the multiplicity of fusion coefficients. While such symmetries are not so common in 1+1 dimensions, in 2+1 dimensions there are multiple inequivalent junctions as long as there is a bulk topological line. Thus, we consider the multiplicity in 1+1 dimensions as a warm-up.

⁶When finite one-form symmetries are also present, the whole symmetry is described by a multifusion category, and it is related to the concept of decomposition or "universes" in a (1+1)-dimensional system. See, for example, [32, 126, 127] for discussions on this point.



Figure 4: The pentagon identity.

- Obj*C*: the set of objects. Any object *b* ∈ Obj*C* takes the form of *b* = ⊕_{*a*∈Simp*C*} *n_a a* where *a* runs over simple objects and *n_a*'s are non-negative integers. An object *a*₁ ⊕ *a*₂ represents a superposition of defects *a*₁ and *a*₂: The correlation function containing *a*₁ ⊕ *a*₂ is the sum of the correlation function containing *a*₁ ⊕ *a*₂.
- Hom_C(a, b): the "hom space" between two objects a and b. A morphism φ ∈ Hom_C(a, b) from a to b represents a topological line-changing operator connecting the lines a and b. See Figure 2b. Such operators form a (finite-dimensional) C-vector space because they can be added and multiplied by complex numbers. In addition, in Hom_C(a, a) =: End_C(a), there is the identity operator/morphism id_a. Two line-changing operators φ₁ ∈ Hom_C(a, b) and φ₂ ∈ Hom_C(b, c) can be composed, and the composition defines an element φ₂ ∘ φ₁ ∈ Hom_C(a, c). The hom space between two simple objects a, b ∈ Simp C is one dimensional when a = b and zero-dimensional otherwise. In particular, for a simple object a ∈ Simp C, there is a canonical isomorphism End_C(a) ≅ C, which maps λid_a ∈ End_C(a) to λ ∈ C.
- *a* ⊗ *b* ∈ Obj*C*: The tensor product of objects *a* and *b*. This corresponds to the fusion of topological lines *a* and *b*. See Figures 2c and 2d. We can expand the tensor product as *a* ⊗ *b* = ⊕_{*c*∈SimpC} N^{*c*}_{*ab*} *c*, where the non-negative integers N^{*c*}_{*ab*} are called fusion coefficients. As a physicists' convention, we fix a particular (non-canonical) basis Basis(*a* ⊗ *b*, *c*) := {(*v*^{*c*}_{*a,b*})_{*i*}}<sub>*i*=1,...,N^{*c*}_{*ab*} of the hom space Hom(*a* ⊗ *b*, *c*) for *a*, *b*, *c* ∈ Simp*C*.
 </sub>
- *F*-symbols (*F_d^{abc}*)_{(x;v1,v2),(y;v3,v4)} ∈ C: complex numbers that govern the "*F*-move" depicted in Figure 3. Specifically, the *F*-symbols encode the relationship between two different ways of composing basis morphisms via the following equation:⁷

$$v_{2} \circ (v_{1} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{c}) = \sum_{\substack{y \in \mathrm{Simp}\,\mathcal{C}, \\ v_{3} \in \mathrm{Basis}(b \otimes c, y), \\ v_{4} \in \mathrm{Basis}(a \otimes y, d)}} (F_{d}^{abc})_{(x;v_{1},v_{2}),(y;v_{3},v_{4})} v_{4} \circ (\mathrm{id}_{a} \otimes v_{3}) \in \mathrm{Hom}(a \otimes b \otimes c, d).$$
(1)

The *F*-symbols should satisfy the pentagon identity depicted in Figure 4 [129].

In addition, a fusion category has the following data regarding "dual", which is a relaxed notion of the inverse:

⁷Precisely, the left- and right-hand sides of eq. (1) differ by an isomorphism $\alpha_{a,b,c}$: $(a \otimes b) \otimes c \rightarrow a \otimes (b \otimes c)$ called an associator, which is assumed to be the identity here. This assumption is always possible due to Mac Lane strictness theorem [128].



Figure 5: The duality structure in a fusion (1-)category C. (a) The dual a^* of a topological line a is its orientation reversal. (b) There is a morphism $ev_a : a^* \otimes a \to I$ called evaluation defined by the figure. (c) There is a morphism $coev_a : I \to a^* \otimes a$ called coevaluation defined by the figure. (d) The expectation value of a loop of a topological line a is called the "quantum dimension" and is denoted by dim a. In the mathematical terms it is the composition $ev_a \circ coev_a \in Hom(I, I) \cong \mathbb{C}$.

- $a^* \in \text{Obj} \mathcal{C}$: The dual of an object *a*. This represents the orientation reversal of *a*, see Figure 5a.
- $ev_a \in Hom_{\mathcal{C}}(a^* \otimes a, I)$: The evaluation morphism. This represents the pair-annihilation of topological lines *a* and *a*^{*}, see Figure 5b.
- $\operatorname{coev}_a \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(I, a^* \otimes a)$: The coevaluation morphism. This represents the pair-creation of topological lines *a* and *a*^{*}, see Figure 5c.⁸
- $\dim(a) \in \mathbb{C}$: The quantum dimension of an object *a*. This quantity is defined by the equality $ev_a \circ coev_a = \dim(a) id_I$ and thus corresponds to the vacuum expectation value of a loop of *a*, see Figure 5d. If the quantum dimensions of *a* and a^* agree with each other for every object $a \in Obj C$, the fusion category C is said to be spherical.

The above data that satisfy appropriate consistency conditions define a fusion category [6,7,9].

Examples. Let us see a few basic examples of fusion categories that naturally appear in physical systems.

- Finite group. Topological defects for a finite group symmetry *G* form the fusion category Vec_G of *G*-graded vector spaces. The category Vec_G consists of simple objects L_g labeled by group elements $g \in G$. These simple objects obey the group-like fusion rules $L_{g_1} \otimes L_{g_2} = L_{g_1g_2}$ and have trivial *F*-symbols.⁹ The dual of an object L_g is its inverse, i.e., we have $L_g^* = L_{g^{-1}}$. In particular, when $G = \{id\}$ is the trivial group, Vec_G reduces to the category Vec of finite-dimensional vector spaces, which corresponds to the trivial (i.e., no) symmetry. We note that all simple objects of Vec_G are invertible.
- Ising category. A basic example of a non-invertible fusion category arises in the critical Ising model [7, 23, 130]. The category contains simple objects η for the \mathbb{Z}_2 spin-flip symmetry and \mathcal{N} for the Kramers-Wannier self-duality, forming the fusion category Ising

⁸There are left and right evaluation/coevaluation morphisms depending on whether we consider $a \otimes a^*$ or $a^* \otimes a$. For a unitary fusion category, any two of them are automatically determined by the other two because of the unitary structure. See, e.g., [6,9] for more details.

⁹The *F*-symbols become non-trivial when the finite group symmetry *G* is anomalous.

called the "Ising category". The latter object does not constitute a conventional symmetry but does a non-invertible symmetry. The fusion rules of the simple objects are given by

$$\eta \otimes \eta \cong I, \quad \eta \otimes \mathcal{N} \cong \mathcal{N} \otimes \eta \cong \mathcal{N}, \quad \mathcal{N} \otimes \mathcal{N} \cong I \oplus \eta.$$
⁽²⁾

As we can see from the above equation, the simple object \mathcal{N} is indeed non-invertible.

• **Representation category.** Another significant example of a fusion category is the representation category $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$ for a finite group *G*. In this category, simple objects are irreducible representations of *G*, general objects are general finite dimensional representations, morphisms are intertwiners, the tensor product of objects is the ordinary tensor product of representations, and the dual is the complex conjugation. When *G* is non-abelian, $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$ contains irreducible representations of dimension greater than 1, which are non-invertible.

Symmetry TFT construction. In [33], Aasen, Fendley, and Mong constructed both twodimensional classical statistical mechanical models and (1+1)-dimensional quantum chain models based on fusion categories.

As noted in their paper [33], these models can be naturally understood in terms of three-dimensional topological field theory known as the Turaev-Viro-Barrett-Westbury (TVBW) model [131, 132]. Here, the TVBW model plays the role of what is called "symmetry topological field theory (SymTFT)" in the QFT literature [19, 91, 124, 133–135] and "categorical symmetry" in the condensed matter literature [58, 136–141].¹⁰

The TVBW model is a state sum model on a (2+1)-dimensional (oriented) spacetime lattice. The input datum of the state sum is a (spherical) fusion category C, and the TVBW model constructed from a fusion category C is denoted by TVBW(C). The model describes the topological order whose anyon data are described by the Drinfeld center Z(C) of C, which is a modular tensor category made out of a fusion category C.

The two-dimensional statistical mechanical model in [33], which we call the AFM height model, can be constructed by placing the TVBW model on a slab, that is, the direct product of an interval *I* and a two-dimensional oriented closed surface Σ , see Figure 6. On the left and right boundaries of the slab $I \times \Sigma$, we impose topological and non-topological boundary conditions respectively. The non-topological boundary condition is defined by decorating the "Dirichlet" boundary of TVBW(C) with a network of defects as depicted in Figure 7. Here, the Dirichlet boundary condition is a topological boundary condition such that the category of topological lines on the boundary is the input fusion category C. For simplicity, just as in [33, 124], we choose the Dirichlet boundary condition as the topological boundary condition on the left boundary.¹¹

To see the symmetry of the AFM height model, we consider the topological lines (or anyons) in TVBW(C). Although we can insert any anyons labeled by objects of Z(C) in the 3d bulk, some of them can be absorbed by the topological boundary on the left. Thus, the nontrivial topological lines in the AFM height model are identified with the lines on the topological boundary, which form the fusion category C.¹²

¹⁰The idea of using the Turaev-Viro model to construct and study 2d statistical-mechanical systems had already appeared in [124].

¹¹In general, topological boundary conditions of TVBW(C) are in one-to-one correspondence with (finite semisimple) module categories over C (equipped with a module trace) [122, 123, 142, 143]. In particular, the Dirichlet boundary condition corresponds to the regular C-module category C.

¹²If the topological boundary condition on the left boundary is the one labeled by a *C*-module category \mathcal{M} , topological lines on the boundary form a fusion category $\operatorname{Fun}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M})$, which is the category of *C*-module end-ofunctors of \mathcal{M} [122, 123, 142]. Choosing a different topological boundary condition corresponds to gauging (a part of) the fusion category symmetry \mathcal{C} [44, 48, 91, 133].



Figure 6: The AFM height model realized as the TVBW model on a slab with one topological boundary and one non-topological boundary. The non-topological boundary is obtained by decorating the Dirichlet boundary with a defect network as shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7: The decorated boundary in Figure 6. The transfer matrix T of the AFM height model is defined by the region indicated in the figure.

AFM height model. Let us unpack the above abstract construction to obtain explicit 2d classical statistical models. The input data of the AFM height model are listed as follows:

- A (spherical) fusion category *C*,
- an object $\rho \in Obj\mathcal{C}$,
- an object $\mathcal{F} \in \text{Obj}\mathcal{C}$,
- morphisms $\mathcal{F}_{\rho} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho, \mathcal{F} \otimes \rho)$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho \otimes \mathcal{F}, \rho)$.

Note that both ρ and \mathcal{F} are not necessarily simple. Based on the above data,¹³ we explicitly describe the AFM height model on a two-dimensional torus $\Sigma = T^2$.

In order to define the model based on the above data, we first draw a defect network on the torus T^2 as shown in Figure 7. This defect network plays the role of the spacetime lattice on which dynamical variables reside. Specifically, we assign a dynamical variable $\Gamma_i \in \text{Simp}\mathcal{C}$ to each plaquette *i*, and also assign a dynamical variable $\Gamma_{ij} \in \text{Basis}(\Gamma_i \otimes \rho^*, \Gamma_j)$ to each vertical segment (i.e., a black edge) separating plaquettes *i* and *j*, see Figure 8 for the assignment of these dynamical variables. The dynamical variables Γ_{ij} on edges are trivial when all the fusion coefficients N_{ab}^c are either 0 or 1, which is often assumed in the literature for simplicity. The

¹³These data are redundant. In particular, for an invertible element $\phi \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F})$, modifying $(\mathcal{F}_{\rho}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho})$ into $((\phi \otimes id_{\rho}) \circ \mathcal{F}_{\rho}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} \circ (id_{\rho} \otimes \phi^{-1}))$ does not change the model. In addition, it turns out that the choice $\mathcal{F} = \rho^* \otimes \rho$ can reproduce the most general model (for a fixed ρ). In this case, we can fix the above ambiguity by the condition of, for example, $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} = ev_{\rho^*} \otimes id_{\rho}$. With this gauge fixing, the pair $(\rho, \mathcal{F}_{\rho})$ parametrizes the model without obvious redundancies except for the overall scaling.



Figure 8: The dynamical variables in the AFM height model.

statistical mechanical partition function is defined by the sum of the Boltzmann weights for all possible configurations of dynamical variables:

$$Z = \sum_{\{\Gamma_i\}, \{\Gamma_{ij}\}} \prod_h W_h(\vec{\Gamma}).$$
(3)

Here, *h* runs over the horizontal segments (i.e., the blue and green edges) in Figure 7, and $W_h(\vec{\Gamma}) \in \mathbb{C}$ is the local Boltzmann weight depending on the dynamical variables around *h*. More specifically, when *h* is the green edge in Figure 8, the local Boltzmann weight $W_h(\vec{\Gamma})$ depends only on four objects $\{\Gamma_i, \Gamma_j, \Gamma_k, \Gamma_\ell\}$ and four basis morphisms $\{\Gamma_{ij}, \Gamma_{jk}, \Gamma_{i\ell}, \Gamma_{\ell k}\}$ appearing in the same figure. The explicit form of the Boltzmann weight $W_h(\vec{\Gamma})$ is given by the following diagrammatic equation:

$$W_{h}(\vec{\Gamma}) = \sqrt{\dim \Gamma_{j} \dim \Gamma_{\ell}} \times \Gamma_{i} (\mathcal{F}_{\rho}) ($$

where $\overline{(v_{ab}^c)_i} \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(c, a \otimes b)$ is the dual junction of $(v_{ab}^c)_i \in \text{Basis}(a \otimes b, c)$ that satisfies

$$\operatorname{ev}_{c} \circ (\operatorname{id}_{c^{*}} \otimes (v_{ab}^{c})_{i}) \circ (\operatorname{id}_{c^{*}} \otimes \overline{(v_{ab}^{c})_{j}}) \circ \operatorname{coev}_{c} = \delta_{ij}.$$

$$(5)$$

We write the basis of Hom $(c, a \otimes b)$ as Basis $(c, a \otimes b) := \{\overline{(v_{ab}^c)_i}\}_{i=1,\dots,N_{ab}^c}$. The weight (4) can also be written explicitly in terms of *F*-symbols. If we define the transfer matrix *T* by the Boltzmann weight on the region indicated in Figure 7, we can write the partition function of the AFM height model as $Z = \text{Tr } T^N$, where *N* is the number of plaquettes in the vertical direction.

Quantum anyon chain. We can obtain a (1+1)-dimensional quantum chain model known as the anyon chain [53,54] by taking the anisotropic limit of the above two-dimensional statistical mechanical model [33]. The Hilbert space \mathcal{H} of the model is spanned by the fusion trees depicted in Figure 9. Here, we assign a simple object $\Gamma_i \in C$ to each segment *i* connecting the vertical ρ lines, and assign a morphism $\Gamma_{i,i+1} \in \text{Basis}(\Gamma_i \otimes \rho^*, \Gamma_{i+1})$ to each vertex connecting the segments *i*, *i*+1 and the vertical ρ line. These simple objects and basis morphisms are the



Figure 9: The fusion tree defining the Hilbert space of the quantum anyon chain.

dynamical variables of the model.¹⁴ An assignment of simple objects Γ_i and Γ_{i+1} is prohibited if the fusion coefficient $N_{\Gamma_i \rho^*}^{\Gamma_{i+1}}$ is zero.

The Hamiltonian *H* of the model is derived by expanding the transfer matrix of the AFM height model as $T = id_{\mathcal{H}} - \epsilon H + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ in the anisotropic limit, where ϵ is a small parameter.¹⁵ The Hamiltonian obtained in this way is of the form $H = -\sum_i \hat{h}_{i-1,i,i+1}$, where the local interaction $\hat{h}_{i-1,i,i+1}$ can be expressed diagrammatically as¹⁶

$$\hat{h}_{i-1,i,i+1} \xrightarrow[\rho]{\Gamma_{i-1,i}} \stackrel{\Gamma_{i,i+1}}{\bigcap} = \underbrace{\xrightarrow{\Gamma_{i-1,i}}}_{\rho} \stackrel{\Gamma_{i,i+1}}{\bigcap}_{\rho} \stackrel{\Gamma_{i-1,i}}{\bigcap} \stackrel{\Gamma_{$$

Here, $\mathcal{F}_{int} = \{f, v, w\}$ denotes the set consisting of a simple object $f \in \text{Simp} \mathcal{C}$ and morphisms $v \in \text{Basis}(\rho, f \otimes \rho)$ and $w \in \text{Basis}(\rho \otimes f, \rho)$ that appear in the diagram on the right-hand side. The weight $A(\mathcal{F}_{int})$ is a complex number determined by $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_{\rho}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho})$.

The above 1+1d model has a fusion category symmetry C. The symmetry acts on the system "from above" as shown in Figure 10. That is, we define the action of a topological line $a \in \text{Obj} C$ by placing it above the fusion tree and fusing it into the tree using the *F*-move. This symmetry action commutes with the Hamiltonian (6) because it acts on the fusion tree "from below":

If we write both the Hamiltonian and the symmetry action in terms of the *F*-symbols, the commutation relation (7) follows from the pentagon identity shown in Figure 4.

Examples. Let us consider several examples of the anyon chain models.

Spin chains. When C = Vec_{Z_N} and ρ = ⊕_{g∈Z_N} L_g, the state space of the anyon chain model becomes the tensor product of *N*-dimensional on-site Hilbert spaces. Namely,

¹⁴The dimension of the Hilbert space asymptotically grows as dim $\mathcal{H} \sim (\dim \rho)^L$ where $L \gg 1$ is the number of vertical ρ lines. Thus, we can regard ρ as the degree of freedom at each site. Note that dim ρ is not necessarily an integer.

¹⁵As we can see from eq. (4), the parameter of the AFM height model is a morphism $\varphi := (\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\rho}) \circ (\mathrm{id}_{\rho} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{\rho}) \in \mathrm{Hom}(\rho \otimes \rho, \rho \otimes \rho)$. The anisotropic limit is defined by choosing $\varphi = \mathrm{id}_{\rho \otimes \rho} + \epsilon \varphi'$ and taking the limit of $\epsilon \ll 1$. By abuse of notation, φ' is also written as $(\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\rho}) \circ (\mathrm{id}_{\rho} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{\rho})$ in eq. (6).

¹⁶In the original paper by Aasen, Fendley, and Mong [33], they use a different basis for the local Hamiltonian $\hat{h}_{i-1,i,i+1}$. However, the choice of a basis does not affect the family of Hamiltonians obtained in this way, up to a reparametrization, because the two bases are related by *F*-moves.



Figure 10: The action of a line $a \in ObjC$ on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . This action changes the dynamical variable on each edge from Γ_i to $a \otimes \Gamma_i$. The dynamical variables on the vertices are also affected accordingly. The resulting fusion tree can be written as a linear combination of fusion trees whose edges are labeled by fusion channels of $a \otimes \Gamma_i$.

we have a \mathbb{Z}_N -valued spin on each site. The Hamiltonian of the model preserves the on-site \mathbb{Z}_N symmetry that rotates these spins. Thus, the anyon chain model in this case reduces to an ordinary \mathbb{Z}_N -symmetric spin chain. More generally, if we choose $\mathcal{C} = \operatorname{Vec}_G$ and $\rho = \bigoplus_{g \in G} L_g$, we obtain a *G*-symmetric spin chain whose on-site Hilbert space is the regular representation of *G*. Furthermore, we can also consider spin chains with anomalous finite group symmetries by choosing $\mathcal{C} = \operatorname{Vec}_G^{\omega}$, the category of *G*-graded vector spaces with a twist $\omega \in H^3(G, U(1))$.

- Gauged spin chains. If we choose $C = \operatorname{Rep}(G)$, we obtain the *G*-gauged version of the spin chains, where the choice of $\rho \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)$ determines the on-site Hilbert space of the ungauged *G*-symmetric spin chain. More specifically, the $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$ symmetry can be ungauged by replacing the Dirichlet boundary condition on the left boundary of the SymTFT with another topological boundary condition labeled by a $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$ -module category Vec [44, 48, 133]. This ungauging procedure results in a *G*-symmetric spin chain whose on-site Hilbert space is $\rho \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)$.
- Critical Ising model. When C is the Ising category and ρ is the Kramers-Wannier duality line, the anyon chain model reproduces the critical Ising model [33].
- Golden chain. When C is the Fibonacci category and ρ is the unique non-invertible line,¹⁷ we obtain the golden chain [53].
- Haagerup model. The Haagerup category \mathcal{H}_3 is a fusion category that is directly related to neither finite groups nor affine Lie algebras [144–146]. It is generated by a \mathbb{Z}_3 invertible line η and a self-dual non-invertible line ρ that satisfy the following fusion rules:

$$\rho \otimes \eta \cong \eta^2 \otimes \rho, \quad \rho \otimes \rho \cong I \oplus (I \oplus \eta \oplus \eta^2) \otimes \rho.$$
(8)

Numerical studies in [40,41] suggest that the anyon chain model and the corresponding statistical mechanical model with the Haagerup symmetry \mathcal{H}_3 contain a critical point with central charge $c \sim 2$, but the conclusive identification of the phase is elusive so far.

1.3 Generalization to 2+1 dimensions

Our strategy for constructing (2+1)-dimensional models, which we call the fusion surface models, is to directly generalize the story reviewed above.

¹⁷The Fibonacci category consists of two simple objects *I* and τ that satisfy the fusion rule $\tau \otimes \tau = I \oplus \tau$.



Figure 11: The diagrammatic representations of objects, 1-morphisms, and 2-morphisms in a fusion 2-category. An object *A* is represented by an oriented surface, whose coorientation is specified by the red arrow perpendicular to the surface. A 1-morphism $a : A \rightarrow B$ is represented by an oriented line at the interface between surfaces *A* and *B*. A 2-morphism $a : a \Rightarrow b$ is represented by a junction of lines *a* and *b*. In our convention for surface diagrams, a 1-morphism is read from right to left, and a 2-morphism is read from bottom to top. The red arrow specifying the coorientation of a surface will be omitted when the coorientation is clear from the context.

Fusion 2-category. In higher dimensions, finite generalized symmetries are expected to be described by higher categories [55–58]. In particular, we can naturally expect that finite generalized symmetries of (2+1)-dimensional unitary bosonic systems are generally described by *fusion 2-categories*. The precise definition of a (spherical) fusion 2-category can be found in [55]. Here we review the concept of fusion 2-category very briefly. A longer review of fusion 2-categories will be provided in Section 2.1.

In 2+1 dimensions, a defect can have 2-, 1-, or 0-dimensional volume. Correspondingly, a fusion 2-category C consists of

- Obj C: The set of objects,
- Hom_C(*A*,*B*): The 1-category of 1-morphisms between objects *A*, *B* \in ObjC, and
- Hom_{$A \to B$}(a, b): The vector space of 2-morphisms between 1-morphisms $a, b \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(A, B)$.¹⁸

As depicted in Figure 11, each element of ObjC corresponds to a two-dimensional topological surface, each object of $Hom_C(A, B)$ corresponds to a topological interface between two surfaces A and B, and each element of $Hom_{A\to B}(a, b)$ corresponds to a topological interface between topological interfaces a and b. Note that both 1- and 2-morphisms can be composed, e.g., for $a \in Hom_C(A, B)$ and $b \in Hom_C(B, C)$, there exists $b \circ a \in Hom_C(A, C)$. Similarly, two objects A and B can be stacked on top of each other, which defines the tensor product $A \square B \in ObjC$, see Figure 12. Furthermore, a fusion 2-category is also equipped with the duality data such as the dual $A^{\#}$ of an object A, the dual a^* of a 1-morphism a, and the evaluation and coevaluation morphisms associated with them.

Symmetry TFT construction. In [55], a state sum model on a four-dimensional (oriented) spacetime lattice is defined based on a (spherical) fusion 2-category C. We call this state sum model the Douglas-Reutter (DR) model and denote it as DR(C). The DR model is a four-dimensional version of the TVBW model, and thus we can utilize it to generalize the FT-AFM construction to one higher dimension.

In order to generalize the FT-AFM construction, we consider the DR model DR(C) on a four-dimensional slab $I \times T^3$ where I is an interval and T^3 is a three-dimensional torus, see the left panel of Figure 13. On the left boundary of the slab, we impose the Dirichlet boundary

¹⁸The vector space $\text{Hom}_{A \to B}(a, b)$ is a hom space of the 1-category $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(A, B)$.



Figure 12: The diagrammatic representation of the tensor product $A \Box B$. A surface labeled by *A* appears in front of a surface labeled by *B*.



Figure 13: Schematic description of the fusion surface model.

condition of DR(C).¹⁹ In particular, this means that topological defects on the left boundary are described by the fusion 2-category C that we started with. On the other hand, on the right boundary, we impose a non-topological boundary condition that is obtained by decorating the Dirichlet boundary with the defect network shown in the right panel of Figure 13.

Since the bulk of DR(C) is topological, the configuration depicted in the left panel of Figure 13 defines a purely 3d classical statistical model, which we call the 3d height model. Furthermore, by taking the anisotropic limit of the 3d height model, we can define the corresponding 2+1d quantum lattice model, which we call the fusion surface model. The derivation of the 3d height models and 2+1d fusion surface models will be explained in detail in sections 3 and 4 respectively. In the rest of this subsection, we will briefly summarize the definition of the 2+1d fusion surface model and describe its fusion 2-category symmetry.

1.3.1 Fusion surface models

Input data. The fusion surface model is a 2+1d quantum model on a honeycomb lattice.²⁰ In order to define the state space of this model, we fix the following data, see Figure 14:

- A (spherical) fusion 2-category C,
- objects $\rho, \sigma, \lambda \in Obj \mathcal{C}$,
- 1-morphisms $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho \Box \sigma, \lambda)$ and $g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\sigma \Box \rho, \lambda)$.

¹⁹More generally, we can also use a different topological boundary condition on the left boundary, which should be labeled by a module 2-category over C. A different choice of a module 2-category would correspond to a different way of gauging the fusion 2-category symmetry C. In the case of a non-anomalous finite group symmetry 2Vec_G , the relation between the choice of a module 2-category and the (twisted) gauging is studied in [113]. We do not explore this generalization in this paper.

²⁰Although a honeycomb lattice is convenient for our purpose, e.g. because at each vertex the minimal number (three) of edges meet, it should be straightforward to generalize the model to another lattice.



Figure 14: Data defining the state space.



Figure 15: Data defining the Hamiltonian. The domains/codomains of the symbols are summarized in eqs. (9) and (10).

Moreover, to define the Hamiltonian, we fix the data listed below, see also Figure 15:

- An object $\mathcal{F} \in \text{Obj}\mathcal{C}$,
- 1-morphisms

$$\mathcal{F}_{\lambda} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{F} \Box \lambda, \lambda), \quad \mathcal{F}_{\rho} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{F} \Box \rho, \rho), \quad \mathcal{F}_{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{F} \Box \sigma, \sigma), \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\lambda} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\lambda \Box \mathcal{F}, \lambda), \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho \Box \mathcal{F}, \rho), \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\sigma \Box \mathcal{F}, \sigma), \end{cases}$$
(9)

• 2-morphisms

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\lambda\sigma}^{f} &\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho \square \sigma \square \mathcal{F} \to \lambda} (\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\lambda} \circ (f \square 1_{\mathcal{F}}), f \circ (1_{\rho} \square \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma})), \\ \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\rho}^{g} &\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\sigma \square \mathcal{F} \square \rho \to \lambda} (g \circ (\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\sigma} \square 1_{\rho}), g \circ (1_{\sigma} \square \mathcal{F}_{\rho})), \\ \mathcal{F}_{\rho\lambda}^{f} &\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F} \square \rho \square \sigma \to \lambda} (f \circ (\mathcal{F}_{\rho} \square 1_{\sigma}), \mathcal{F}_{\lambda} \circ (1_{\mathcal{F}} \square f)), \\ \mathcal{F}_{\lambda\sigma}^{g} &\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F} \square \sigma \square \rho \to \lambda} (\mathcal{F}_{\lambda} \circ (1_{\mathcal{F}} \square g), g \circ (\mathcal{F}_{\sigma} \square 1_{\rho})), \\ \mathcal{F}_{\sigma\rho}^{f} &\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho \square \mathcal{F} \square \sigma \to \lambda} (f \circ (1_{\rho} \square \mathcal{F}_{\sigma}), f \circ (\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho} \square 1_{\sigma})), \\ \mathcal{F}_{\rho\lambda}^{g} &\in \operatorname{Hom}_{\sigma \square \rho \square \mathcal{F} \to \lambda} (g \circ (1_{\sigma} \square \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\rho}), \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\lambda} \circ (g \square 1_{\mathcal{F}})). \end{aligned}$$
(10)

State space. The state space \mathcal{H}_0 of the fusion surface model on a honeycomb lattice is a specific subspace of a larger state space \mathcal{H} that is spanned by fusion diagrams of the following

form:

 $\Gamma_{6} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{8}} \Gamma_{7}$ $\lambda \xrightarrow{\rho_{f}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{g} \lambda \xrightarrow{\rho_{f}} \Gamma_{3}$ $\Gamma_{2} \xrightarrow{g} \rho_{f} \xrightarrow{\gamma} \Gamma_{1} \xrightarrow{g} \rho^{f} \Gamma_{3}$ (11)

Dynamical variables living on plaquettes (written in white), edges (written in black), and vertices (written in black) of the honeycomb lattice are labeled by simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms of C respectively. More precisely, the plaquette variables take values in the set of representatives of connected components of simple objects of C, and the edge variables take values in the set of representatives of isomorphism classes of simple 1-morphisms of C, see Section 2.1 for the terminology. The dynamical variables on plaquettes are denoted by Γ_i in the above equation, whereas the dynamical variables on edges and vertices are not specified in order to avoid cluttering the diagram. The colored surfaces in eq. (11) are labeled by objects ρ , σ , and λ , which are not dynamical variables of the model. Similarly, the colored edges in eq. (11) are labeled by 1-morphisms f and g, which are not dynamical variables as well. The state space \mathcal{H}_0 is the subspace of \mathcal{H} on which the eigenvalue of the plaquette operator \hat{B}_p defined by the following equation is 1 for every plaquette p:



Here, dim(Γ_{45}) is the quantum dimension of a simple 1-morphism Γ_{45} , and Dim(Γ_4) := dim(Γ_4) dim(End_C(Γ_4)) is the product of the quantum dimension of a simple object Γ_4 and the total dimension of a fusion 1-category End_C(Γ_4) := Hom_C(Γ_4 , Γ_4), see Section 2 for the definitions of these quantities. The diagram on the right-hand side of eq. (12) is evaluated by fusing the loop labeled by Γ_{45} to the edges of the honeycomb lattice. We note that \hat{B}_p is a local commuting projector just like the plaquette operator of the Levin-Wen model [125]. The projector to the subspace \mathcal{H}_0 is given by the product of \hat{B}_p 's on all plaquettes, namely, we have

$$\mathcal{H}_{0} = \left(\prod_{p: \text{ plaquettes}} \hat{B}_{p}\right) \mathcal{H}.$$
(13)

Hamiltonian. The Hamiltonian of the model is given by $H = -\sum_{p: \text{ plaquettes }} \hat{T}_p$, where each term \hat{T}_p is defined by the following diagrammatic equation:



The diagram on the right-hand side is evaluated by fusing the yellow surface, yellow edges, and yellow vertices into the honeycomb lattice. Here, they are labeled by an object $\mathcal{F} \in \text{Obj}\mathcal{C}$,



Figure 16: The action of a fusion 2-category symmetry is defined by the fusion of surface and line defects to the spatial lattice.

1-morphisms (9), and 2-morphisms (10) as shown in Figure 15. If we expand them in terms of simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms, the Hamiltonian (14) can also be written as



where the weight $A(\mathcal{F}_{int})$ is a complex number, and the summation on the right-hand side is taken over all possible simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms labeling the yellow surface, yellow edges, and yellow vertices in the diagram. The labels summed over are collectively denoted by \mathcal{F}_{int} in the above equation. Specifically, \mathcal{F}_{int} consists of one simple object, six simple 1-morphisms, and six basis 2-morphisms. Under several assumptions that we spell out in Section 4.2, we can show that the Hamiltonian (15) becomes Hermitian if the weight satisfies $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{F}_{int}) = A(\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{int})^*$, where $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{int}$ basically means the dual of \mathcal{F}_{int} , see Section 4.2 for more details.²¹

Symmetry. The fusion surface model defined above has a fusion 2-category symmetry described by the input fusion 2-category C. The action of the symmetry is defined by the operation of fusing topological surfaces and topological lines into the honeycomb lattice from above as shown in Figure 16. This symmetry action can be written in terms of the 10-j symbols of the fusion 2-category. The commutativity of the symmetry action and the Hamiltonian (15) is guaranteed by the coherence conditions on the 10-j symbols. This is because the symmetry operator acts on a state from above, while the Hamiltonian acts on a state from below, see eq. (7) for an analogous statement in 1+1d.

Examples. Let us see several examples of the fusion surface model that we will discuss in this paper.

Spin models with anomalous finite group symmetries. When the input fusion 2-category is the 2-category 2Vec_G^ω of *G*-graded 2-vector spaces with a twist ω∈H⁴(G,U(1)) [55], the fusion surface model has a finite group symmetry *G* with an anomaly ω. In

²¹We can always make the Hamiltonian Hermitian by adding the Hermitian conjugate, which would not violate the fusion 2-category symmetry of the model.

particular, when ρ, σ , and λ are the sum of all simple objects $\rho = \sigma = \lambda = \bigoplus_{g \in G} g$, the dynamical variables of the model are *G*-valued spins on all plaquettes. Thus, the fusion surface model in this case reduces to an ordinary spin model with an anomalous finite group symmetry. We will study this example in Section 4.4.3. As a special case, the fusion surface model includes the anomaly free *G*-symmetric spin model discussed in [113].

- Lattice models with non-invertible and invertible 1-form symmetries. When the input fusion 2-category is (the condensation completion of) a ribbon category \mathcal{B} ,²² the fusion surface model has a non-invertible 1-form symmetry described by \mathcal{B} . We will discuss this example briefly in Section 4.4.2. In particular, when the fusion rules of \mathcal{B} are group-like, the fusion surface model reduces to an ordinary spin model with an anomalous invertible 1-form symmetry. This example will be discussed in more detail in Section 5.1.
- Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field. When the input fusion 2-category is (the condensation completion of) the Ising category, we can obtain the Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field [149] as a variant of the fusion surface model. We will consider this example in Section 5.2.
- Non-chiral topological phases with fusion 2-category symmetries. For any fusion 2-category C, we can construct a commuting projector Hamiltonian with C symmetry by defining the input data of the fusion surface model using a separable algebra in C. Since the Hamiltonian is the sum of local commuting projectors, this model would realize a non-chiral topological phase with C symmetry. We expect that all non-chiral topological phases with arbitrary fusion 2-category symmetries can be realized in this way by choosing a separable algebra appropriately. This example will be discussed in Section 5.3.

1.4 Structure of the paper

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we review fusion 2-categories and the state sum construction of the 4d Douglas-Reutter TFT. In Section 3, we define the 3d height models on a cubic lattice, which are three-dimensional analogues of the 2d AFM height models. In Section 4, we derive the 2+1d fusion surface models on a honeycomb lattice by taking an appropriate limit of the 3d height models. In particular, we see that the fusion surface models are (2+1)-dimensional analogues of the 1+1d anyon chain models. We also investigate the unitarity and fusion 2-category symmetries of these models. Finally, in Section 5, we study several examples of the fusion surface models, including those that would realize general non-chiral topological phases with fusion 2-category symmetries.

2 Preliminaries

Throughout the paper, we suppose that the base field of a fusion 2-category is \mathbb{C} .

²²The condensation completion physically means that we add in topological surfaces consisting of the condensates of topological lines. Mathematically, the condensation completion of a ribbon category \mathcal{B} is described by the 2-category Mod(\mathcal{B}) of module categories over \mathcal{B} . Practically, the construction of our lattice model only uses \mathcal{B} rather than its condensation completion. We note that there is a closely related notion called orbifold completion [27,147], which might agree with the condensation completion in the case of our interest. We refer the reader to [56, Remark 1.4.7] and [148] for the potential difference between these notions.

2.1 Fusion 2-categories

Finite symmetries in 2+1 dimensions are characterized by the algebraic structure of topological surfaces, topological lines, and topological point defects. In unitary theories, these defects are expected to form a spherical fusion 2-category. In this section, we briefly review the basics of fusion 2-categories. We refer the reader to [55] for more details, see also [150].

A fusion 2-category C consists of objects, 1-morphisms between objects, and 2-morphisms between 1-morphisms. The 1-morphisms between objects A and B form a finite semisimple 1-category, which is denoted by $\text{Hom}_{C}(A, B)$. The subscript C of $\text{Hom}_{C}(A, B)$ will often be omitted in what follows. The 2-morphisms between 1-morphisms a and b form a finite dimensional vector space, which is denoted by Hom(a, b). Physically, objects, 1-morphisms, and 2-morphisms correspond to surface defects, line defects, and point defects respectively. The diagrammatic representations of these data are shown in Figure 11.

The fusion of topological surfaces labeled by *A* and *B* corresponds to taking the tensor product of objects *A* and *B*. The tensor product of *A* and *B*, which is denoted by $A \square B$, is represented by the diagram of layered two surfaces, where the surface labeled by *A* is put in front of the surface labeled by *B*, see Figure 12. The unit of the tensor product is called a unit object and is denoted by *I*. The unit object *I* corresponds to a trivial surface defect, which is represented by an invisible diagram.

The fusion of topological lines labeled by a and b corresponds to the composite of 1morphisms a and b, which is denoted by $a \circ b$. In the diagrammatic representation of the composite $a \circ b$, the line labeled by a is on the left of the line labeled by b. There is also a similar correspondence between the fusion of topological point defects and the composition of 2-morphisms.

Every object and every 1-morphism of a fusion 2-category C have their duals. The dual $A^{\#}$ of an object A is represented by the orientation reversal of a surface diagram labeled by A. Similarly, the dual a^* of a 1-morphism a is represented by the orientation reversal of a line labeled by a.²³ We note that a^* is a 1-morphism from B to A when a is a 1-morphism from A to B. Taking the duals of objects and 1-morphisms is involutive, i.e., we have $A^{\#\#} = A$ and $a^{**} = a$.

An object $A \in C$ is called a simple object if the vector space of 2-endomorphisms of the identity 1-morphism 1_A is one-dimensional, i.e., $\operatorname{End}(1_A) := \operatorname{Hom}(1_A, 1_A) \cong \mathbb{C}$. The unit object I of a fusion 2-category is required to be simple. Similarly, a 1-morphism $a \in \operatorname{Hom}(A, B)$ is called a simple 1-morphism if its endomorphism space $\operatorname{End}(a)$ is a one-dimensional vector space. We note that the identity 1-morphism of a simple object is simple. A fusion 2-category C has only finitely many (isomorphism classes of) simple objects and simple 1-morphisms between simple objects.

Any objects and 1-morphisms in C can be decomposed into finite direct sums of simple objects and simple 1-morphisms respectively. The direct sum of objects A and B is denoted by $A \boxplus B$, whereas the direct sum of 1-morphisms a and b is denoted by $a \oplus b$. Simple objects and simple 1-morphisms are indecomposable, which means that they cannot be decomposed into direct sums any further.

Since the unit object *I* is simple, the identity 1-morphism 1_I has a one-dimensional vector space of 2-endomorphisms $\text{End}(1_I) \cong \mathbb{C}$. This implies that any 2-endomorphism of 1_I is proportional to the identity 2-morphism and hence can be identified with a number. In particular, a closed surface diagram, when viewed as a 2-endomorphism of 1_I , gives rise to a complex number. This enables us to define complex numbers $\dim_R(a)$ and $\dim_L(a)$ for a 1-morphism

²³In the mathematical literature, the dual of a 1-morphism is often called the adjoint.

 $a \in \text{Hom}(A, B)$ by the following sphere diagrams:



We call these quantities the right and left dimensions of a. Here, we implicitly used the (co)evaluation 1- and 2-morphisms to define the cups and caps as in the definition of the quantum dimension in a fusion 1-category, cf. Figure 5d.

The left and right dimensions agree with each other when a fusion 2-category C is equipped with an additional structure called a pivotal structure. In a pivotal fusion 2-category, the right (or equivalently left) dimension of a 1-morphism *a* is simply denoted by dim(*a*) and is called the quantum dimension of *a*. In particular, the quantum dimension of the identity 1-morphism $1_A \in \text{End}(A)$ is denoted by dim(A) := dim(1_A) and is called the quantum dimension of A.²⁴ A pivotal fusion 2-category C is said to be spherical if the quantum dimension of every object agrees with the quantum dimension of its dual. In the rest of this paper, a fusion 2-category Calways means a spherical fusion 2-category.

The quantum dimension of a 1-morphism $a \in \text{Hom}(A, B)$ can be understood as the trace of the identity 2-morphism of a. More generally, the trace of a 2-morphism $a \in \text{End}(a)$ is defined as the value of the following sphere diagram:

$$Tr(\alpha) = \begin{pmatrix} B \\ \alpha & A \\ a \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (17)

The trace defines a non-degenerate pairing $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle := \text{Tr}(\alpha\beta)$ between 2-morphisms $\alpha \in \text{Hom}(a, b)$ and $\beta \in \text{Hom}(b, a)$. The dual bases of the vector spaces Hom(a, b) and Hom(b, a) with respect to the above non-degenerate pairing are denoted by $\{\alpha_i\}$ and $\{\overline{\alpha_i}\}$, which satisfy $\langle \alpha_i \overline{\alpha_j} \rangle = \delta_{ij}$. We call α_i and $\overline{\alpha_i}$ basis 2-morphisms or normalized 2-morphisms.

In a fusion 1-category, the associativity of the tensor product is captured by the *F*-symbols. In a fusion 2-category, the tensor product among objects satisfies a higher associativity, which is captured by the data called the 10-j symbols. Specifically, the 10-j symbols $z_+(\Gamma; [01234])$

 $^{^{24}}$ Simple objects *A* and *B* can have different quantum dimensions even if they are isomorphic to each other. Physically, isomorphic objects with different quantum dimensions differ by an invertible 2d TFT.



and z_{Γ} ; [01234]) are defined by the following diagrammatic equations:²⁵

Here, the diagram in the above equation consists of ten surfaces [ij] labeled by simple objects Γ_{ij} where $0 \le i < j \le 4$, ten lines [ijk] labeled by simple 1-morphisms $\Gamma_{ijk} \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\Gamma_{ij} \Box \Gamma_{jk}, \Gamma_{ik})$ where $0 \le i < j < k \le 4$, and five points [ijkl] labeled by basis 2-morphisms $\Gamma_{ijkl} \in \text{Hom}(\Gamma_{ikl} \circ (\Gamma_{ijk} \Box 1_{\Gamma_{kl}}), \Gamma_{ijl} \circ (1_{\Gamma_{ij}} \Box \Gamma_{jkl}))$ where $0 \le i < j < k < l \le 4$. The summation on the right-hand side is taken over (isomorphism classes of) simple 1-morphisms Γ_{024} and basis 2-morphisms Γ_{0124} and Γ_{0234} . The braiding of two lines Γ_{012} and Γ_{234} on the right-hand side represents the interchanger 2-isomorphism [55], which reduces to the ordinary braiding isomorphism when Γ_{012} and Γ_{234} are 1-endomorphisms of the unit object *I*.

For later convenience, we define the notion of connected components of simple objects and simple 1-morphisms in a fusion 2-category C. Simple objects A and B are connected if and only if there exists a non-zero 1-morphism between them, and we say they are in the same connected component. Similarly, simple 1-morphisms a and b are connected if and only if there exists a non-zero 2-morphism between them. We note that the connected component of a simple object is bigger than the isomorphism class of the simple object.²⁶ This is because there can be non-zero 1-morphisms between simple objects A and B even if they are not isomorphic to each other. The set of connected components of simple objects in C is denoted by $\pi_0 C$. By a slight abuse of notation, we will also write the set of representatives of connected components as $\pi_0 C$.

²⁵The 10-j symbols defined here are the same as those defined in [55]. Indeed, eq. (18) and (19) reduce to the original definition of the 10-j symbols given in [55] if we take the trace of these equations after post-composing a 2-morphism that is the dual of a summand on the right-hand side.

²⁶On the other hand, the connected component of a simple 1-morphism agrees with the isomorphism class. This is because a simple 1-morphism $a : A \rightarrow B$ in a fusion 2-category is a simple object in a finite semisimple 1-category Hom(A, B) and every non-zero morphism between simple objects in such a 1-category is an isomorphism due to Schur's lemma.

| Fusion 2-category | Douglas-Reutter TFT |
|--|---|
| Finite group (with a twist) | (twisted) Dijkgraaf-Witten TFT [155] |
| Finite 2-group (with a twist) | (twisted) Yetter TFT [156,157] |
| Ribbon category | Crane-Yetter TFT [158–160] |
| G-crossed braided fusion category | Cui TFT [161] |
| Γ_{ijk} Γ_{jk} Γ_{jk} Γ_{ij} | $\Gamma_{ijl} \qquad \Gamma_{jkl} \\ \Gamma_{ijkl} \qquad \Gamma_{ikl} \qquad \Gamma_{kl} \\ \Gamma_{il} \qquad \Gamma_{ikl} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ij} \\ \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ij} \\ \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \\ \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \\ \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk} \\ \Gamma_{ijk} \qquad \Gamma_{ijk}$ |

Table 1: The relation between the Douglas-Reutter TFT and other 4d TFTs [55].

Figure 17: The compatibility conditions on a configuration of dynamical variables. The left figure represents the compatibility between the dynamical variable on a 2-simplex [ijk] and those on the boundary of [ijk]. The right figure represents the compatibility between the dynamical variable on a 3-simplex [ijkl] and those on the boundary of [ijkl].

2.2 Douglas-Reutter TFT

The Douglas-Reutter TFT is a four-dimensional oriented topological field theory obtained from a spherical fusion 2-category C [55]. This TFT generalizes various 4d TFTs known in the literature, see table 1.²⁷ In this section, we review the Douglas-Reutter TFT, which is denoted by DR(C), following Walker's universal state sum [162].

Let *M* be a closed oriented 4-manifold. In order to define the partition function of the Douglas-Reutter TFT DR(C) on *M*, we first choose a triangulation of *M*. We also give a branching structure on the triangulated 4-manifold *M* by choosing a global order *o* of 0-simplices.

The dynamical variables of the Douglas-Reutter TFT DR(C) are simple objects Γ_{ij} living on 1-simplices [ij], simple 1-morphisms Γ_{ijk} living on 2-simplices [ijk], and basis 2-morphisms Γ_{ijkl} living on 3-simplices [ijkl], where i < j < k < l with respect to the global order o of 0simplices. Here, Γ_{ij} and Γ_{ijk} are taken from the set of representatives of connected components of simple objects and simple 1-morphisms. A configuration of the above dynamical variables must be compatible with the monoidal structure of a fusion 2-category C in the following sense: a simple 1-morphism Γ_{ijk} is a 1-morphism from $\Gamma_{ij}\Box\Gamma_{jk}$ to Γ_{ik} and a basis 2-morphism Γ_{ijkl} is a 2-morphism from $\Gamma_{ikl} \circ (\Gamma_{ijk}\Box 1_{\Gamma_{kl}})$ to $\Gamma_{ijl} \circ (1_{\Gamma_{ij}}\Box \Gamma_{jkl})$. These compatibility conditions can be expressed by the fusion diagrams shown in Figure 17. A configuration Γ of dynamical variables is referred to as a C-state.

The partition function of DR(C) is given by the sum of appropriate weights over all possible C-states. More specifically, the partition function $Z_{DR}(M)$ on a closed oriented 4-manifold M is defined by the following formula: [55, 162]

$$Z_{\rm DR}(M) = \sum_{\Gamma} \prod_{0-\text{simplices } [i]} \frac{1}{\dim(\mathcal{C})} \prod_{1-\text{simplices } [ij]} \frac{1}{\dim(\Gamma_{ij})} \times \prod_{2-\text{simplices } [ijk]} \dim(\Gamma_{ijk}) \prod_{4-\text{simplices } [ijklm]} z_{\epsilon_o([ijklm])}(\Gamma;[ijklm]).$$
(20)

²⁷There are also other 4d TFTs such as unoriented TFTs [151,152], spin and pin TFTs [153], and TFTs with U(1) symmetry [154], which are not examples of the Douglas-Reutter TFT. We do not consider these TFTs in this paper. It would be interesting to generalize our analyses to these TFTs.

Here, dim(\mathcal{C}) = $\sum_{X \in \pi_0 \mathcal{C}} (\dim(\operatorname{End}(X)))^{-1}$ is the total dimension of a fusion 2-category \mathcal{C} ,²⁸ Dim(Γ_{ij}) := dim(Γ_{ij})dim(End(Γ_{ij})) is the product of the quantum dimension dim(Γ_{ij}) of a simple object Γ_{ij} and the global dimension dim(End(Γ_{ij})) of the endomorphism 1-category End(Γ_{ij}), and dim(Γ_{ijk}) is the quantum dimension of a simple 1-morphism Γ_{ijk} . The weight $z_{\epsilon_o([ijklm])}(\Gamma; [ijklm])$ on a 4-simplex [ijklm] is the 10-j symbol defined by eqs. (18) and (19). The subscript $\epsilon_o([ijklm])$ is a sign determined by the orientation of a 4-simplex [ijklm] in the following way: $\epsilon_o([ijklm])$ is + if the orientation of [ijklm] induced by the orientation of the underlying manifold M agrees with the one induced by the global order o of 0-simplices, and $\epsilon_o([ijklm])$ is – otherwise.

The formula (20) is based on Walker's universal state sum construction [162], which is slightly different from the original formulation by Douglas and Reutter [55]. In the original paper by Douglas and Reutter, dynamical variables Γ_{ij} on 1-simplices are taken from the set of isomorphism classes of simple objects rather than the set of connected components of them. Accordingly, the scalar factor on each 1-simplex [ij] is further divided by the number of (isomorphism classes of) simple objects in the connected component of Γ_{ij} . In the subsequent sections, we will use Walker's universal state sum construction instead of the original formulation by Douglas and Reutter because the former can immediately be applied to manifolds with general cell decompositions, which is convenient for our purposes.

In order to apply Walker's universal state sum to a closed 4-manifold M with a general cell decomposition, we begin with turning the cell decomposition into a handle decomposition by thickening each cell. A thickened *j*-cell is called a *j*-handle, which has the shape of $B^j \times B^{4-j}$ where B^n is an *n*-dimensional ball. We sometimes use the terms *j*-cell and *j*-handle interchangeably. The boundary of a *j*-cell is topologically a 3-sphere S^3 consisting of two regions $S^{j-1} \times B^{4-j}$ and $B^j \times S^{3-j}$. The former region is glued to *i*-cells for i < j, while the latter region is glued to *i*-cells for i > j. Given a handle decomposition as above, we can write down the partition function of the Douglas-Reutter TFT on M as

$$Z_{\rm DR}(M) = \sum_{\Gamma} \prod_{\text{4-handles } h_4} \frac{1}{\dim(\mathcal{C})} \prod_{\text{3-handles } h_3} \frac{1}{\dim(\Gamma(h_3))} \times \prod_{\text{2-handles } h_2} \operatorname{ev}(\Gamma(\partial h_2)) \prod_{\text{0-handles } h_0} \operatorname{ev}(\Gamma(\partial h_0)),$$
(21)

where a C-state Γ is a compatible assignment of simple objects $\Gamma(h_3)$, simple 1-morphisms $\Gamma(h_2)$, and basis 2-morphisms $\Gamma(h_1)$ to 3-handles h_3 , 2-handles h_2 , and 1-handles h_1 respectively. In the above equation, $\Gamma(\partial h_j)$ represents the surface diagram that appears as the intersection of the 3-sphere ∂h_j and the original (i.e., not thickened) cell decomposition labeled by a C-state Γ . Since the surface diagram $\Gamma(\partial h_j)$ is closed, it defines a 2-morphism from the unit object I to itself, which is canonically identified with a complex number. This complex number, which would be expressed in terms of the 10-j symbols and the quantum dimensions, is denoted by $\mathrm{ev}(\Gamma(\partial h_j))$ in the above equation. We note that eq. (21) reduces to eq. (20) when the cell decomposition is the dual of a triangulation.

We can also apply Walker's universal state sum to manifolds with boundaries. In order to compute the partition function on an oriented 4-manifold M with boundary ∂M , we endow M with a cell decomposition and label the boundary 2-cells, boundary 1-cells, and boundary 0-cells by simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms in a consistent manner. The labeling on the boundary cells defines a fusion diagram on ∂M , which we denote by \mathcal{F} . A fusion diagram \mathcal{F} on the boundary is called a coloring. When the boundary ∂M is colored by a fusion diagram \mathcal{F} , a C-state Γ in the bulk is constrained so that the dynamical variable

²⁸The global dimension dim(End(X)) of End(X) for a simple object $X \in \pi_0 C$ is given by the sum of the squared norm $||x||^2 = (\dim(x)/\dim(X))^2$ for all (isomorphism classes of) simple objects $x \in \text{End}(X)$. We note that ||x|| is the quantum dimension of x viewed as an object of a fusion 1-category End(X).



Figure 18: A schematic picture of the 3d classical statistical model obtained from the 4d Douglas-Reutter TFT on a slab $N \times [0, 1]$. We impose a topological boundary condition τ on the left boundary $N \times \{0\}$. On the other hand, we impose a (not necessarily topological) boundary condition decorated by a coloring $\sum_{\mathcal{F}} A(\mathcal{F})\mathcal{F}$ on the right boundary $N \times \{1\}$. The above geometry defines a genuine three-dimensional system because the four-dimensional bulk is topological.

 $\Gamma(h_j)$ on a bulk *j*-cell intersecting the boundary ∂M agrees with the label on the boundary (j-1)-cell $h_j \cap \partial M$. For this setup, the partition function on an oriented 4-manifold M with a non-empty boundary can be written as

$$Z_{\rm DR}(M;\mathcal{F}) = \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}} \sum_{\Gamma} \prod_{\text{4-handles } h_4} \frac{1}{\dim(\mathcal{C})} \prod_{\text{3-handles } h_3} \frac{1}{\dim(\Gamma(h_3))} \times \prod_{\text{2-handles } h_2} \operatorname{ev}(\Gamma(\partial h_2)) \prod_{\text{0-handles } h_0} \operatorname{ev}(\Gamma(\partial h_0)),$$
(22)

where the products on the right-hand side are taken over *j*-handles that do not intersect the boundary. The numerical factor $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$ is a complex number that depends only on the coloring \mathcal{F} on the boundary. In particular, $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$ does not depend on the cell decomposition of the bulk. The detailed definition of $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$ does not matter for later applications as we will see shortly in Section 3.1.

3 3d height models

3.1 3d classical statistical models from 4d Douglas-Reutter TFT

We construct three-dimensional classical statistical models based on the Douglas-Reutter TFT. Specifically, we put the DR theory on a slab $N \times [0, 1]$, where N is a closed oriented 3-manifold equipped with a cell decomposition. See Figure 18. The partition function of this 3d classical statistical model is given by

$$Z(A;\tau) = \sum_{\mathcal{F}} A(\mathcal{F}) Z_{\text{DR}}(N \times [0,1];\tau,\mathcal{F}), \quad A(\mathcal{F}) \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(23)

Here, $Z_{DR}(N \times [0,1]; \tau, \mathcal{F})$ is the partition function of the Douglas-Reutter TFT on a slab $N \times [0,1]$, where τ and \mathcal{F} specify the boundary conditions on the left and right boundaries respectively. Concretely, τ is a topological boundary condition on the left boundary $N \times \{0\}$ and \mathcal{F} is a coloring on the right boundary $N \times \{1\}$.²⁹ We note that the numerical factor $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$ in eq. (22) is absorbed into the redefinition of the weight $A(\mathcal{F})$ in eq. (23) and therefore the precise form of $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$ does not matter.

²⁹We expect that a topological boundary τ is obtained by decorating the Dirichlet boundary by a fine mesh of topological surfaces labeled by an algebra object of the input fusion 2-category. In the subsequent sections, we will restrict our attention to the case where τ is the Dirichlet boundary.

The above partition function defines a purely three-dimensional system because we can squash the bulk TFT due to its topological nature. Indeed, we can write the right-hand side of the above equation without using the four-dimensional bulk at all. To see this, we choose a cell decomposition of $N \times [0, 1]$ so that every *j*-cell in the bulk is of the form $c_{j-1} \times [0, 1]$, where c_{j-1} is a (j-1)-cell on the boundary. In particular, there are no 0-cells in the bulk. For this choice of a cell decomposition, we can think of a *C*-state, which is originally defined as a collection of dynamical variables in the bulk, as a collection of dynamical variables on the boundary $N \times \{1\}$ by projecting the dynamical variables on *j*-cells in the bulk onto the corresponding (j-1)-cells on the boundary $N \times \{1\}$. More specifically, a *C*-state assigns a simple object, a simple 1-morphism, and a basis 2-morphism to each 0-cell, 1-cell, and 2-cell on the boundary $N \times \{1\}$. We note that the dynamical variables in the bulk to the boundary $N \times \{1\}$. Since the projection of dynamical variables in the bulk to the boundary $N \times \{1\}$. Since the projection of dynamical variables in the bulk to the boundary $N \times \{1\}$.

The symmetry of the above 3d classical statistical model is determined by the pair of the 4d TFT DR(C) in the bulk and a topological boundary condition τ on the left boundary. For this reason, the bulk topological field theory is called a symmetry TFT [19,91,124,133–135] or categorical symmetry [58,136–141] in the literature. Specifically, the symmetry of the 3d model is generated by topological defects living on the topological boundary τ . Therefore, a different choice of a topological boundary condition gives rise to a different symmetry.³⁰

In what follows, we take τ to be the Dirichlet boundary condition, which means that the coloring on the left boundary $N \times \{0\}$ is a trivial fusion diagram. In this case, eq. (22) implies that we can shrink the left boundary $N \times \{0\}$ to a point when computing the partition function because shrinking the Dirichlet boundary to a point does not affect the surface diagrams $\Gamma(\partial h_j)$ in eq. (22). More specifically, the partition function on a slab $N \times [0, 1]$ agrees, up to a constant \mathcal{N}_0 , with the partition function on a cone pt *N, which is a (singular) manifold obtained by shrinking the Dirichlet boundary to a point. Thus, the partition function of the 3d classical statistical model can be written as

$$Z(A) = \sum_{\mathcal{F}} A(\mathcal{F}) Z_{\text{DR}}(\text{pt} * N; \mathcal{F}).$$
(24)

We note that the scalar factor \mathcal{N}_0 is absorbed into the redefinition of $A(\mathcal{F})$.

Before proceeding, we emphasize that the simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms contained in the coloring \mathcal{F} are regarded as dynamical variables of the 3d model for the time being. These dynamical variables will be integrated out when we will define the 3d height models in the next subsection. Hence, the dynamical variables of the 3d height models consist only of simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms contained in the C-state Γ .

3.2 3d height models on a triangulated cubic lattice

Let us now explicitly construct the 3d height model based on the above general idea of constructing 3d classical statistical models. The lattice Λ on which the 3d height model is defined is a cubic lattice endowed with a triangulation and a branching structure as shown in Figure 19. The underlying 3-manifold of Λ is supposed to be a 3-torus T^3 .

A configuration of dynamical variables is specified by a pair (Γ, \mathcal{F}) of a C-state Γ and a coloring \mathcal{F} . As we mentioned in the previous subsection, a C-state Γ assigns a simple object Γ_i to each 0-simplex [i], a simple 1-morphism Γ_{ij} to each 1-simplex [ij], and a basis 2-morphism Γ_{ijk} to each 2-simplex [ijk]. On the other hand, a coloring \mathcal{F} consists of a simple object

³⁰Given a topological boundary condition, we can obtain another topological boundary condition by condensing a separable algebra formed by a set of topological defects on the boundary. The condensation of a separable algebra on the topological boundary is regarded as the gauging of the fusion 2-category symmetry of the 3d model.



Figure 19: The cubic lattice on which the 3d height model is defined is equipped with the above triangulation and branching structure.

 \mathcal{F}_{ij} on each 1-simplex [ij], a simple 1-morphism \mathcal{F}_{ijk} on each 2-simplex [ijk], and a basis 2-morphism \mathcal{F}_{ijkl} on each 3-simplex [ijkl].³¹ This difference is because, in the 4d Douglas-Reutter theory on the cone, while Γ 's are assigned to the cells connecting the vertex [pt] and the right boundary, \mathcal{F} 's are assigned to the simplices on the boundary.

The partition function of a general 3d classical statistical model defined in the previous subsection can be written as the sum of the Boltzmann weights over all possible configurations of dynamical variables on Λ as follows:

$$Z(A) = \sum_{\Gamma} \sum_{\mathcal{F}} A(\mathcal{F}) \prod_{\text{0-simplices } [i]} \frac{1}{\text{Dim}(\Gamma_i)} \prod_{\text{1-simplices } [ij]} \dim(\Gamma_{ij}) \prod_{\text{cubes } c} z(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; c).$$
(25)

Here, the weight $z(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; c)$ on a cube *c* is given by the product of the weights on the 3-simplices contained in *c*. By construction, the weight on a 3-simplex [ijkl] is the 10-j symbol on the corresponding 4-simplex pt *[ijkl], whose vertices are ordered as pt < i, j, k, l. Therefore, if we label the vertices of a cube *c* by 1, 2, \cdots , 8 as shown in Figure 19, we can write the weight $z(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; c)$ as

$$z(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; c) = z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; pt * [1245]) z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; pt * [2456]) z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; pt * [4568]) \times z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; pt * [1345]) z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; pt * [3457]) z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; pt * [4578]),$$
(26)

where $\epsilon = \pm$ is a sign determined by the choice of an orientation of the underlying manifold T^3 . We note that the relative signs for different 3-simplices [ijkl] are determined solely by the branching structure on Λ , which is independent of the choice of the orientation of T^3 . For example, the relative sign for 3-simplices [1245] and [2456] can be computed as follows. We first suppose that each 4-simplex pt * [ijkl] has an orientation ϵ_{ijkl} .³² In this case, a 4-simplex pt * [1245] induces an orientation $-\epsilon_{1245}$ on a 3-simplex pt * [2456], whereas a 4-simplex pt * [2456] induces an orientation ϵ_{2456} on pt * [245]. These induced orientations must be opposite to each other because the underlying (singular) manifold pt * T^3 is oriented. Therefore, we find $\epsilon_{1245} = \epsilon_{2456}$, which shows that the relative sign for [1245] and [2456] is positive. Similarly, we can compute the relative signs for other 3-simplices. We can also check that ϵ in eq. (26) does not depend on a cube *c* by computing the relative signs for 3-simplices contained in adjacent cubes.

A 3d height model is obtained by choosing a weight $A(\mathcal{F})$ appropriately as we describe below. In order to define the 3d height model, we first take $A(\mathcal{F})$ to be the product of local weights on cubes:

$$A(\mathcal{F}) = \prod_{\text{cubes } c} A_c(\mathcal{F}^c).$$
(27)

 $^{^{31}}A$ coloring ${\cal F}$ gives rise to a fusion diagram on the dual cell decomposition of $\Lambda.$

³²We define the orientation of an *n*-simplex $[i_0 \cdots i_{n-1}]$ to be positive if it is an even permutation of i_0, \cdots, i_{n-1} . Otherwise, the orientation of $[i_0 \cdots i_{n-1}]$ is defined to be negative.



Figure 20: We fix the coloring on the boundary of each cube as above, while we keep the coloring inside each cube dynamical. The dual fusion diagram of the above coloring is shown in Figure 21.



Figure 21: The coloring (28) on a triangulated cube defines a fusion diagram on the dual cell decomposition, which looks like a hexagonal prism as shown above. The yellow surface, lines and points in the above diagram are the duals of the internal edge, triangles and tetrahedra of a triangulated cube.

We note that the function $A_c(\mathcal{F}^c)$ can depend on a cube c, meaning that the Boltzmann weight can be non-uniform on the lattice Λ . The argument \mathcal{F}^c denotes the set of dynamical variables contained in the coloring on a cube c. More specifically, \mathcal{F}^c consists of 19 simple objects \mathcal{F}_{ij}^c on 1-simplices [ij] in c, 12 simple 1-morphisms \mathcal{F}_{ijk}^c on 2-simplices [ijk] in c, and 6 basis 2-morphisms \mathcal{F}_{ijkl}^c on 3-simplices [ijkl] in c. The superscript c will be omitted when it is clear from the context. Furthermore, we fix the coloring on the boundary of each cube so that we can integrate out the coloring \mathcal{F} later while preserving the locality of the Boltzmann weight. In other words, we require that a local weight $A_c(\mathcal{F}^c)$ is non-zero only when a coloring \mathcal{F}^c satisfies the following conditions, see also Figure 20:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{12}^{c} &= \mathcal{F}_{34}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{56}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{78}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{35}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{46}^{c} = \rho ,\\ \mathcal{F}_{13}^{c} &= \mathcal{F}_{24}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{57}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{68}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{25}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{47}^{c} = \sigma ,\\ \mathcal{F}_{15}^{c} &= \mathcal{F}_{26}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{37}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{48}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{14}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{58}^{c} = \lambda ,\\ \mathcal{F}_{124}^{c} &= \mathcal{F}_{125}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{347}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{357}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{468}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{568}^{c} = f ,\\ \mathcal{F}_{134}^{c} &= \mathcal{F}_{135}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{246}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{256}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{478}^{c} = \mathcal{F}_{578}^{c} = g . \end{aligned}$$
(28)

Here, ρ , σ , and λ are simple objects, and $f : \rho \Box \sigma \rightarrow \lambda$ and $g : \sigma \Box \rho \rightarrow \lambda$ are simple 1morphisms, all of which are chosen arbitrarily.³³ We emphasize that the choice of these simple objects and simple 1-morphisms does not depend on a cube *c*. The above coloring defines a fusion diagram on the dual of a triangulated cube as shown in Figure 21. The coloring inside a cube *c*, which is denoted by \mathcal{F}_{int}^c , remains dynamical after fixing the coloring on the boundary of *c*. Since the coloring \mathcal{F}_{int}^c inside *c* can be chosen independently of the coloring $\mathcal{F}_{int}^{c'}$ inside any other cube *c'*, the summation over all colorings \mathcal{F} in eq. (25) can be factorized into the

³³Although we assume that objects ρ , σ , λ , and 1-morphisms f, g are simple, a similar derivation of the 3d height model can be applied even when they are non-simple.

summations over \mathcal{F}_{int}^c for all cubes *c*. Therefore, we can write the partition function (25) as

$$Z(A) = \sum_{\Gamma} \prod_{[i]} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Dim}(\Gamma_i)} \prod_{[ij]} \operatorname{dim}(\Gamma_{ij}) \prod_{c} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}^c} A_c(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c) z(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; c).$$
(29)

For later convenience, we write the above partition function in a more compact form as

$$Z(A) = \sum_{\Gamma} \prod_{c: \text{ cubes}} W_c(\Gamma; c), \qquad (30)$$

where the Boltzmann weight $W_c(\Gamma; c)$ on a cube *c* is defined by

$$W_{c}(\Gamma;c) = \dim(\Gamma_{45}^{c}) \sqrt{\prod_{j=4,5} \frac{\prod_{i=1,2,3} \prod_{k=6,7,8} \dim(\Gamma_{ij}^{c}) \dim(\Gamma_{jk}^{c})}{\operatorname{Dim}(\Gamma_{j}^{c})}} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}^{c}} A_{c}(\mathcal{F}_{int}^{c}) z(\Gamma,\mathcal{F};c). \quad (31)$$

We call the 3d classical statistical model defined by the above partition function a 3d height model because this model is a three-dimensional analogue of the 2d AFM height model in [33]. We note that a coloring \mathcal{F} is already integrated out in eq. (30) and hence is no longer regarded as a dynamical variable of the 3d height model.

Although we do not describe in detail, we can also incorporate topological defects by inserting them on the left (i.e., topological) boundary of the Douglas-Reutter theory before squashing the four-dimensional bulk. These topological defects generate the symmetry of the 3d height model. In Section 4.4, we will see how this symmetry is realized in the corresponding 2+1d quantum model.

4 2+1d fusion surface models

Throughout this section, we suppose that the weight $A_c(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c)$ does not depend on cube *c* and write it simply as $A(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c)$.

4.1 2+1d fusion surface models from 3d height models

In this subsection, we derive the Hamiltonian of the 2+1d fusion surface model on a honeycomb lattice, which is the quantum counterpart of the 3d height model on the triangulated cubic lattice Λ . To this end, we first choose a time direction on Λ . The time direction on each cube is given by the direction from vertex [4] to vertex [5]. We call vertices [4] and [5] the initial vertex and the final vertex respectively. The above choice of a time direction enables us to define the initial time slice and the final time slice for each cube as follows: The initial time slice consists of the faces containing the initial vertex [4], whereas the final time slice consists of the faces containing the final vertex [5], see Figure 22.³⁴ A global time slice on the whole cubic lattice is illustrated in Figure 23, where the cubes are colored in blue, green, and yellow for later convenience.

The triangulation of a cubic lattice shown in Figure 19 gives rise to a triangular lattice on a single time slice, which is the Poincaré dual of a honeycomb lattice. We illustrate the relation between a triangulated cubic lattice, a triangular lattice, and a honeycomb lattice in Figure 24. The plaquettes of the honeycomb lattice in Figure 24 are colored in accordance with the colors of the cubic lattice. We note that dynamical variables on the honeycomb

³⁴We can equally choose the time direction in the opposite way, and we will end up with the same (family of) models.



Figure 22: The initial time slice (left) and the final time slice (right) on a single cube.



Figure 23: (a) A colored cubic lattice. A blue cube is surrounded by three green cubes and three yellow cubes. A green cube is surrounded by three yellow cubes and three blue cubes. A yellow cube is surrounded by three blue cubes and three green cubes. (b) The initial and final time slices at t = 0, 1 viewed from the *z* direction. Each red line represents the intersection of a time slice and a plane perpendicular to the *z*-axis.



Figure 24: A time slice on the triangulated cubic lattice (left) becomes a triangular lattice (middle), which is related to a honeycomb lattice (right) by the Poincaré duality. The color of a vertex v of the cubic lattice represents the color of the cube whose initial vertex is v. A vertex of the triangular lattice has the same color as the color of the corresponding vertex of the cubic lattice, while a plaquette of the honeycomb lattice has the same color as the color of its dual vertex of the triangular lattice.

lattice are simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms living on plaquettes, edges, and vertices.³⁵

Based on the above definition of a time slice, we define the transfer matrix of the 3d height model on Λ . The transfer matrix \hat{T} is a linear map from the state space on a time slice at t = 0 to the state space on another time slice at t = 1. Physically, this linear map represents the imaginary time evolution from t = 0 to t = 1. The state space on a time slice is spanned by possible configurations of dynamical variables on the honeycomb lattice. Specifically, the state space \mathcal{H} is given by $\mathcal{H} = \text{Span}\{|\Gamma\rangle\}$, where $|\Gamma\rangle$ denotes a state corresponding to a configuration Γ on the honeycomb lattice. Pictorially, we will often write $|\Gamma\rangle$ as

$$|\Gamma\rangle = \left| \begin{array}{c} \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{8} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \hline \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{4} & \hline \Gamma_{3} \end{array} \right\rangle, \tag{32}$$

where we omitted labels on the edges and vertices on the right-hand side in order to avoid cluttering the notation. The inner product of states in \mathcal{H} is defined by $\langle \Gamma' | \Gamma \rangle = \delta_{\Gamma, \Gamma'}$.

If we choose the initial time slice at t = 0 and the final time slice at t = 1 as shown in Figure 23, the transfer matrix \hat{T} is factorized into the product of three linear maps

$$\hat{T} = \hat{T}_{\text{yellow}} \hat{T}_{\text{green}} \hat{T}_{\text{blue}}, \qquad (33)$$

where \hat{T}_{blue} , \hat{T}_{green} , and \hat{T}_{yellow} are the imaginary time evolutions on the blue plaquettes, green plaquettes, and yellow plaquettes respectively. More specifically, the linear map \hat{T}_{blue} is given by the product of local transfer matrices on the blue plaquettes. The matrix element of the local transfer matrix \hat{T}_p on a plaquette p is defined by the Boltzmann weight on the corresponding cube c with the dynamical variables inside c integrated out, namely,

$$\left\langle \begin{array}{c} \Gamma_{6} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{5}} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{5}} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{2}} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{1}} \\ \end{array} \right\rangle \stackrel{\Gamma_{8}}{\longrightarrow} \left\langle \begin{array}{c} \Gamma_{7} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{2}} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{1}} \\ \end{array} \right\rangle \stackrel{\Gamma_{6}}{\longrightarrow} \left\langle \begin{array}{c} \Gamma_{8} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{2}} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \\ \overrightarrow{\Gamma_{3}} \\ \end{array} \right\rangle = \sum_{\Gamma_{\text{int}}^{c}} W_{c}(\Gamma; c), \qquad (34)$$

where *c* is a cube whose initial vertex is dual to the plaquette *p* and Γ_{int}^c is the collection of dynamical variables inside *c*. We note that the local transfer matrices on blue plaquettes commute with each other because any two plaquettes of the same color are not adjacent to each other. Hence, the product of these transfer matrices is defined unambiguously. The other two linear maps \hat{T}_{green} and \hat{T}_{yellow} in eq. (33) are also defined by the products of local transfer matrices on the green plaquettes and the yellow plaquettes respectively. Therefore, we have

$$\hat{T} = \prod_{\text{yellow plaquettes } p_y} \hat{T}_{p_y} \prod_{\text{green plaquettes } p_g} \hat{T}_{p_g} \prod_{\text{blue plaquettes } p_b} \hat{T}_{p_b}.$$
(35)

The partition function (25) of the 3d height model can be written in terms of the above transfer matrix as $Z(A) = \text{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}}(\hat{T}^N)$, where *N* is the number of lattice sites in the time direction.

The transfer matrix formalism of the 3d height model enables us to write down the Hamiltonian of the corresponding 2+1d quantum model on a honeycomb lattice. Specifically, we define the Hamiltonian of the 2+1d quantum lattice model by

$$H = -\sum_{\text{plaquettes } p} \hat{T}_p, \qquad (36)$$

³⁵Equivalently, simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms are living on vertices, edges, and plaquettes of the triangular lattice.

where \hat{T}_p is the local transfer matrix on a plaquette *p* defined by eq. (34). However, the above 2+1d model is not precisely the quantum counterpart of the 3d height model. This is because the imaginary time evolution $e^{-\epsilon H}$ on the state space \mathcal{H} does not become the transfer matrix of the 3d height model even when $\epsilon \ll 1$. In other words, the transfer matrix \hat{T} of the 3d height model cannot be expanded as $\hat{T} = id_{\mathcal{H}} - \epsilon H + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ due to the fact that the state space \mathcal{H} contains a lot of states that are redundant in the description of the 3d height model.

The appropriate quantum counterpart of the 3d height model is obtained by restricting the state space of the above 2+1d model to a specific subspace of \mathcal{H} . To see this, we first notice that the partition function of the 3d height model can also be written as

$$Z(A) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left((\hat{T}_0 \hat{T} \hat{T}_0)^N\right) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_0}(\hat{T}^N), \qquad (37)$$

where \hat{T}_0 is the transfer matrix for the trivial weight $A(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c) = \delta_{\mathcal{F}_{int}^c,1}$ and $\mathcal{H}_0 := \hat{T}_0 \mathcal{H}$ is the image of \hat{T}_0 . Here, the trivial weight means that $A(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c)$ is one if \mathcal{F}_{int}^c is a trivial coloring and zero otherwise. We note that \hat{T}_0 is a projector, that is, it satisfies $\hat{T}_0^2 = \hat{T}_0$. This is because the Dirichlet boundary decorated by the trivial coloring is topological in the imaginary time direction. More explicitly, \hat{T}_0 can be written as the product of local commuting projectors as in eq. (52), which makes it clear that \hat{T}_0 is a projector. The first equality of eq. (37) follows from the relation $\hat{T} = \hat{T}_0 \hat{T} \hat{T}_0$, which is an immediate consequence of the fact that \hat{T}_0 is the transfer matrix for the trivial weight. The second equality of eq. (37) follows from the definition of \mathcal{H}_0 . Equation (37) motivates us to consider a 2+1d quantum lattice model whose state space on the honeycomb lattice is \mathcal{H}_0 rather than \mathcal{H} . The Hamiltonian of this model is given by eq. (36), where the domain of the Hamiltonian is now restricted to \mathcal{H}_0 . The restriction of the state space to \mathcal{H}_0 makes sense because the Hamiltonian (36) does not mix states in \mathcal{H}_0 and those in the kernel ker(\hat{T}_0) of \hat{T}_0 due to the equality $\hat{T} = \hat{T}_0 \hat{T} \hat{T}_0$. The 2+1d quantum lattice model on \mathcal{H}_0 is precisely the quantum counterpart of the 3d height model. Indeed, if we take the weight $A(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c)$ of the 3d height model to be slightly off from the trivial weight, i.e., $\delta_{\mathcal{F}_{int}^c,1} + \epsilon A(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c)$ for $\epsilon \ll 1$, the transfer matrix \hat{T} can be expanded in ϵ as $\hat{T} = \hat{T}_0 - \epsilon H \hat{T}_0 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$,³⁶ which reduces to $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{H}_0} - \epsilon H + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ on \mathcal{H}_0 . Namely, our 2+1d lattice model whose state space is \mathcal{H}_0 can be obtained by taking the anisotropic limit of the 3d height model. Here, we emphasize that the point in passing to the smaller state space \mathcal{H}_0 is to find the completely anisotropic limit where the transfer matrix becomes the identity, around which we can expand the transfer matrix.

The introduction of \mathcal{H}_0 is also motivated by the 3+1d perspective. Specifically, the state space of the DR theory on a time slice that is perpendicular to the boundaries depicted in Figure 18, is represented by \mathcal{H}_0 , not \mathcal{H} . This can be understood by noting that \hat{T}_0 is the transfer matrix when the decoration remains invariant under time translation, and such a transfer matrix should be evaluated as the identity operator on the state space.

There is also another way to see the reduction of the state space from a 3+1d point of view. As we will discuss in Section 4.3, \hat{T}_0 is the projection onto the eigenspace of a generalized Levin-Wen plaquette operator. This insight implies that \mathcal{H} corresponds to the state space for configurations where a bunch of hollow cylinders connects the two boundaries of the 3+1d slab in Figure 18. Each cylinder terminates at the center of a plaquette on the right boundary and extends horizontally in the figure, and inside it, there is the trivial phase. The projector \hat{T}_0 is responsible for closing these holes, cf. the original discussion by Levin and Wen [125, Appendix C].

The discrepancy between the naive coloring space \mathcal{H} and the space \mathcal{H}_0 stems from the difference in the homotopy type of the honeycomb lattice, on which the coloring is defined, and the homotopy type of the continuum space on which the DR theory is defined. The former has almost as many generators as plaquettes, while the latter depends only on the global shape

³⁶We note that $H\hat{T}_0 = \hat{T}_0 H\hat{T}_0$ because \hat{T} and \hat{T}_0 commute with each other due to $\hat{T} = \hat{T}_0 \hat{T} \hat{T}_0$.

of the space (e.g. either torus or open disk). This discrepancy does not occur in 1+1d open anyon chain.

We note that the derivation of the above 2+1d quantum lattice model from the 3d height model is parallel to the derivation of the 1+1d anyon chain model from the 2d AFM height model elaborated on in [33]. Thus, we can think of our lattice model as a 2+1d analogue of the anyon chain model. Indeed, as we will see in Section 4.3, our 2+1d model admits a graphical representation analogous to the anyon chain model. We call these 2+1d lattice models fusion surface models.

As we will discuss in Section 4.4, the 2+1d fusion surface model has an exact fusion 2category symmetry described by the input fusion 2-category C. Equivalently, the 2+1d quantum lattice model defined by the same form of the Hamiltonian (36) acting on a larger state space \mathcal{H} has a fusion 2-category symmetry C only on its subspace $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{H}$.³⁷ The existence of this fusion 2-category symmetry is guaranteed by the symmetry TFT construction depicted in Figure 18.

4.2 Unitarity of the model

In this subsection, we spell out the condition for the Hamiltonian (36) to be Hermitian under several assumptions on the input fusion 2-category C. Let us first list the assumptions that we make. The first assumption is that the set of representatives of the connected components of simple objects is closed under taking the dual up to isomorphism. Namely, for the representative X of every connected component, there is a connected component whose representative Y is isomorphic to the dual object $X^{\#}$. This isomorphism is assumed to preserve the quantum dimension and the 10-j symbol. The precise meaning of this assumption will become clear in a later computation. Similarly, for every representative x of simple 1-morphisms in $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(X, Y)$, there is a representative y of simple 1-morphisms in $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(Y,X)$ that is isomorphic to x^* , and we assume that this isomorphism preserves the 10-j symbol.³⁸ We also make an assumption that the quantum dimensions of the representatives of simple objects and simple 1-morphisms are positive real numbers.³⁹ Finally, we assume that the 10-j symbol has the properties that we call the reflection positivity and the 4-simplex symmetry. The reflection positivity of the 10-j symbol $z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234])$ is the property that flipping the orientation of a 4-simplex [01234] amounts to taking the complex conjugation of the 10-j symbol:⁴⁰

$$z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234]) = z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234])^*.$$
(38)

The 4-simplex symmetry of the 10-j symbol $z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234])$ is the invariance under any permutation $\sigma \in S^5$ of vertices of a 4-simplex [01234]:

$$z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234]) = z_{\epsilon \cdot \text{sgn}(\sigma)}(\Gamma; [\sigma(0)\sigma(1)\sigma(2)\sigma(3)\sigma(4)]).$$
(39)

The signature sgn(σ) of a permutation σ is + if σ is an even permutation and it is – if σ is an odd permutation.⁴¹

³⁷This kind of symmetry is called exact emergent symmetry in [163].

³⁸This assumption particularly implies that the Frobenius-Schur indicator of a self-dual simple 1-morphism is trivial.

³⁹The quantum dimension of a simple object is multiplied by λ^2 if we stack an invertible 2d TFT on top of it, where λ^2 is the partition function of the invertible 2d TFT on a sphere. We note that λ has to be real and hence λ^2 is positive if this invertible 2d TFT is reflection positive [164].

⁴⁰The term "reflection positivity" originates from an analogy to the property of a reflection positive quantum field theory: The partition function of a reflection positive quantum field theory becomes its complex conjugate if the orientation of the underlying spacetime is reversed.

⁴¹We expect that these conditions, e.g., the triviality of the Frobenius-Schur indicators of 1-morphisms, can be relaxed to the axioms of what we should call a unitary fusion 2-category. In the more general cases, the Hermiticity condition (43) should be modified to include, e.g., the Frobenius-Schur indicators: see Section 5.1. We do not explore the most general conditions in this paper.

When the permutation σ is non-trivial, the right-hand side of eq. (39) involves objects and morphisms that are dual to those on the left-hand side. Let us illustrate this point by considering the simplest example where $\sigma = (01)$ is the transposition of 0 and 1. In this case, the 4-simplex symmetry (39) reduces to $z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234]) = z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma; [10234])$. The righthand side of this equation involves a simple object Γ_{10} , whereas the left-hand side involves another simple object Γ_{01} . These simple objects are supposed to be dual to each other, i.e., we have $\Gamma_{10} = \Gamma_{01}^{\#}$. Similarly, the right-hand side $z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma; [10234])$ involves a simple 1-morphism $\Gamma_{10j} : \Gamma_{10} \Box \Gamma_{0j} \rightarrow \Gamma_{1j}$ for $2 \le j \le 4$, whereas the left-hand side $z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma; [01234])$ involves another simple 1-morphism $\Gamma_{01j} : \Gamma_{01} \Box \Gamma_{1j} \rightarrow \Gamma_{0j}$. These simple 1-morphisms are related to each other by an appropriate duality that contains both the object-level duality and the morphism-level duality. Specifically, the relation between Γ_{01j} and Γ_{10j} is expressed as



where $\Gamma_{01j}^* : \Gamma_{0j} \to \Gamma_{01} \Box \Gamma_{1j}$ is the morphism-level dual of Γ_{01j} and $(\Gamma_{01j}^*)^\# : \Gamma_{1j}^\# \Box \Gamma_{01}^\# \to \Gamma_{0j}^\#$ is the object-level dual of Γ_{01j}^* . The relation between the basis 2-morphisms on the left-hand side $z_e(\Gamma; [01234])$ and those on the right-hand side $z_{-e}(\Gamma; [10234])$ is also given in a similar way. The 4-simplex symmetry (39) implies that the 10-j symbol on a 4-simplex does not depend on the choice of a branching structure on it. This is a natural generalization of the tetrahedral symmetry of the 6-j symbol of a fusion 1-category [165].

Let us now derive the condition for the Hermiticity of the Hamiltonian (36) based on the above assumptions. We first write down the matrix element of the local Hamiltonian \hat{T}_p explicitly as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{6} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{3} \\ \Gamma_{45} \\ \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{3} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{3} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{3} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{3} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\ \Gamma_{2} \\ \Gamma_{1} \\$$

The summation on the right-hand side is taken over the representatives of simple objects, simple 1-morphisms, and basis 2-morphisms. Due to the assumptions, the matrix element of

the Hermitian conjugate of \hat{T}_p can be computed as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{8} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{5} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{1} & \Gamma_{3} \end{pmatrix} \hat{T}_{p}^{\dagger} \begin{vmatrix} \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{8} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{1} & \Gamma_{3} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{8} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{1} & \Gamma_{3} \end{pmatrix} \hat{T}_{p} \begin{vmatrix} \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{1} & \Gamma_{3} \end{pmatrix}^{*}$$

$$= \sum_{\Gamma_{54}} \sum_{\Gamma_{154}, \cdots, \Gamma_{548}} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{54}} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{154}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{548}} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{1254}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{5478}} A(\mathcal{F}_{54}; \mathcal{F}_{154}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{548}; \mathcal{F}_{1254}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{5478})^{*}$$

$$\times \dim(\Gamma_{45}) \sqrt{\prod_{j=4,5}} \frac{\dim(\Gamma_{1j})\dim(\Gamma_{2j})\dim(\Gamma_{3j})\dim(\Gamma_{3j})\dim(\Gamma_{j6})\dim(\Gamma_{j7})\dim(\Gamma_{j8})}{Dim(\Gamma_{j})}$$

$$\times z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; \text{pt} * [1245]) z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; \text{pt} * [2456]) z_{\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; \text{pt} * [4568])$$

$$\times z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; \text{pt} * [1345]) z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; \text{pt} * [3457]) z_{-\epsilon}(\Gamma, \mathcal{F}; \text{pt} * [4578]).$$

The Hamiltonian (36) is Hermitian if and only if the above two quantities (41) and (42) agree with each other. We emphasize that Γ_{45} , \mathcal{F}_{45} , etc. involved in the 10-j symbols in eq. (42) are not representatives themselves in general but the appropriate duals of the representatives Γ_{54} , \mathcal{F}_{54} , etc. Although they are not representatives, they are isomorphic to representatives because the set of representatives is assumed to be closed under taking the dual up to isomorphism. Since we are assuming that these isomorphisms preserve the quantum dimension and 10-j symbol, we can identify the summands on the right-hand side of eq. (42) with those on the right-hand side of eq. (41). Therefore, the Hermiticity condition on the Hamiltonian (36) reduces to

$$A(\mathcal{F}_{45}; \mathcal{F}_{145}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{458}; \mathcal{F}_{1245}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{4578}) = A(\mathcal{F}_{54}; \mathcal{F}_{154}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{548}; \mathcal{F}_{1254}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{5478})^*, \quad (43)$$

where the arguments on the right-hand side are the representatives of the connected components of appropriate duals of the arguments on the left-hand side. The above equation can be written simply as $A(\mathcal{F}_{int}^c) = A(\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{int}^c)^*$, where the bar represents the appropriate dual.⁴²

4.3 Graphical representation

In this subsection, we give a graphical representation of the 2+1d fusion surface model that we obtained from the 3d height model. To begin with, we consider a graphical representation of a state in the larger state space \mathcal{H} . As we mentioned in Section 4.1, states in \mathcal{H} are in oneto-one correspondence with possible configurations of dynamical variables on a honeycomb lattice. A configuration of dynamical variables is constrained by the monoidal structure of the input fusion 2-category \mathcal{C} . For example, a simple 1-morphism Γ_{ij} on an edge e_{ij} is constrained by the simple objects Γ_i and Γ_j on the adjacent plaquettes p_i and p_j . More specifically, Γ_{ij} has to be a simple 1-morphism from $\Gamma_i \Box \mathcal{F}_{ij}$ to Γ_j , where \mathcal{F}_{ij} is a simple object assigned to a 1-simplex [ij] of the original 3d lattice Λ that is dual to an edge e_{ij} on the honeycomb lattice. We recall that \mathcal{F}_{ij} is fixed due to eq. (28), meaning that \mathcal{F}_{ij} is not dynamical. Similarly, a basis 2-morphism Γ_{ijk} on a vertex v_{ijk} at the junction of three edges e_{ij} , e_{jk} , and e_{ik} must be a 2-morphism between $\Gamma_{jk} \circ (\Gamma_{ij} \Box \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{F}_{jk}})$ and $\Gamma_{ik} \circ (\mathbb{1}_{\Gamma_i} \Box \mathcal{F}_{ijk})$. The local constraints around all vertices combine dynamical variables on the honeycomb lattice into a single fusion diagram.

⁴²In Section 5.1, we will see an example where the Hermiticity condition (43) is modified due to the non-trivial Frobenius-Schur indicator of a simple 1-morphism.



Figure 25: The diagrammatic representation of the Hamiltonian is evaluated by combining the partial fusion around edges and the bubble removal around vertices.

Therefore, a state on the honeycomb lattice can be identified with a fusion diagram as follows:

$$\begin{vmatrix} \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{8} \\ \hline \Gamma_{6} & \Gamma_{7} \\ \hline \Gamma_{2} & \Gamma_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{2} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{1} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{1} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{2} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{1} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{2} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{1} & P_{1} \\ \hline \Gamma_{2} &$$

Here, the left-hand side is an orthonormal basis of the state space \mathcal{H} on the honeycomb lattice and \mathcal{N}_{Γ} is a normalization factor defined by

$$\mathcal{N}_{\Gamma} = \sqrt{\prod_{\text{plaquettes}} \frac{1}{\text{Dim}(\Gamma_i)} \prod_{\text{edges}} \dim(\Gamma_{ij})}.$$
(45)

The action of the local Hamiltonian \hat{T}_p on a state (44) is graphically expressed as

$$\hat{T}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} = \sum_{\Gamma_{5}} \sum_{\Gamma_{45}} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}} A(\mathcal{F}_{int}) \frac{\dim(\Gamma_{45})}{\dim(\Gamma_{5})} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} . \quad (46)$$

The yellow surface and the small white plaquette on the right-hand side are labeled by simple objects \mathcal{F}_{45} and Γ_5 respectively. The edges and vertices are also labeled by simple 1-morphisms and basis 2-morphisms, although the labels are omitted in the above equation due to the lack of space. For example, the loop at the junction of three surfaces Γ_4 , Γ_5 , and \mathcal{F}_{45} is labeled by a simple 1-morphism Γ_{45} : $\Gamma_4 \Box \mathcal{F}_{45} \rightarrow \Gamma_5$. The other labels can also be deduced from the labels already specified in the above equation. The right-hand side of eq. (46) is evaluated in two steps as shown in Figure 25. In what follows, we show that the above graphical representation gives the correct matrix element (34) of the local Hamiltonian \hat{T}_p by explicitly evaluating the fusion diagram step by step.

The first step of the evaluation is the partial fusion, which is represented by the following diagrammatic equality of 2-morphisms:



The 2-morphisms π_i and ι_i in the above equation are the projection and inclusion 2-morphisms, whereas α_i and $\overline{\alpha}_i$ are basis 2-morphisms. The defining property of the projection and inclusion

2-morphisms is that they are dual to each other and satisfy $\pi_i \cdot \iota_j = \delta_{ij}$ 1. In particular, 2morphisms π_i and ι_i are proportional to basis 2-morphisms α_i and $\overline{\alpha}_i$. The proportionality constant can be figured out by comparing the trace of $\iota_i \cdot \pi_i$ with that of $\overline{\alpha}_i \cdot \alpha_i$. The trace of $\iota_i \cdot \pi_i$ is equal to the quantum dimension of the target 1-morphism *d* of π_i , while the trace of $\overline{\alpha}_i \cdot \alpha_i$ is unity because α_i is normalized. Therefore, we have $\iota_i \cdot \pi_i = \dim(d)\overline{\alpha}_i \cdot \alpha_i$, which shows the second equality of eq. (47). We perform this partial fusion for all edges around the central plaquette labeled by Γ_5 .

The second step of the evaluation is to remove the small bubbles that are localized around the vertices after we perform the partial fusion. As an example, we focus on the bubble at the left bottom vertex v_{124} . In order to remove the bubble, we first notice that the configuration of surfaces around a vertex v_{124} can be identified with the left-hand side of the 10-j move (18) as follows:⁴³



This identification makes it clear that the 10-j move around a vertex v_{124} deforms the fusion diagram as



We can now remove the bubble on the right-hand side by using the fact that the composition of Γ'_{245} and Γ_{245} is non-zero only when $\Gamma'_{25} = \Gamma_{25}$ and $\Gamma'_{245} = \overline{\Gamma}_{245}$. When non-zero, the above composite map is a 2-endomorphism of Γ_{25} , which is proportional to the identity 2-morphism because Γ_{25} is simple. More specifically, we have $\Gamma'_{245} \cdot \Gamma_{245} = \delta_{\Gamma_{25},\Gamma'_{25}} \delta_{\overline{\Gamma}_{245},\Gamma'_{245}} \dim(\Gamma_{25})^{-1} \mathrm{id}_{\Gamma_{25}}$, which can be verified by computing the trace of both sides. Therefore, eq. (49) reduces to



Similar equations also hold for the other vertices.⁴⁴

Combining eqs. (44), (45), (46), (47), and (50) leads to eq. (41) with ϵ being +. Thus, we find that the 2+1d quantum lattice model defined on the larger state space \mathcal{H} has a graphical representation (46). This graphical representation can further be simplified on the subspace

⁴³Equation (48) involves the identification of 2-morphisms related by the duality.

⁴⁴Precisely, the 10-j symbol z_+ on the right-hand side is replaced by z_- depending on vertices.

 $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{H}$ as follows:

$$\hat{T}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{3}} \Gamma_{7} = \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}} A(\mathcal{F}_{int}) \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{8}} \Gamma_{7} \dots (51)$$

This is the graphical representation of the Hamiltonian of the 2+1d fusion surface model. We will show the above equation in the rest of this subsection.

Before we derive eq. (51), we first specify the subspace $\mathcal{H}_0 \subset \mathcal{H}$ in more detail. As alluded to in Section 4.1, the subspace \mathcal{H}_0 is defined as the image of the transfer matrix \hat{T}_0 for the trivial weight. The transfer matrix \hat{T}_0 is given by the product of local transfer matrices \hat{B}_p , namely,

$$\hat{T}_0 = \prod_{\text{plaquettes } p} \hat{B}_p \,, \tag{52}$$

where \hat{B}_p is represented by the following diagrammatic equation:

$$\hat{B}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{3}} \Gamma_{7} = \sum_{\Gamma_{45} \in \text{End}(\Gamma_{4})} \frac{\dim(\Gamma_{45})}{\dim(\Gamma_{4})} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \frac{\Gamma_{8}}{\Gamma_{45}} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} \Gamma_{7} (53)$$

We note that \hat{B}_p is a local commuting projector, i.e., it satisfies $\hat{B}_p \hat{B}_{p'} = \hat{B}_{p'} \hat{B}_p$ and $\hat{B}_p^2 = \hat{B}_p$.⁴⁵ Therefore, the subspace \mathcal{H}_0 is spanned by the states satisfying $\hat{B}_p = 1$ for all the plaquettes:

$$\mathcal{H}_{0} = \hat{T}_{0}\mathcal{H} = \operatorname{Span}\{|\Gamma\rangle \in \mathcal{H} \mid \hat{B}_{p} \mid \Gamma\rangle = |\Gamma\rangle, \forall p\}.$$
(54)

On this subspace, a contractible loop of $x \in \text{End}(\Gamma_4)$ on a plaquette acts as a scalar multiplication. This is because the loop operator \hat{B}_p^x for a contractible loop of x on a plaquette p can be absorbed by the projector \hat{B}_p as follows:

$$\hat{B}_p^x \hat{B}_p = \hat{B}_p^x \sum_{\Gamma_{45} \in \text{End}(\Gamma_4)} \frac{\dim(\Gamma_{45})}{\dim(\Gamma_4)} \hat{B}_p^{\Gamma_{45}} = \frac{\dim(x)}{\dim(\Gamma_4)} \hat{B}_p.$$
(55)

This equation implies that a contractible loop of *x* can be shrunk at the expense of multiplying a scalar factor $\dim(x)/\dim(\Gamma_4)$, which is the quantum dimension of an object *x* in a fusion 1-category $\operatorname{End}(\Gamma_4)$.

On the subspace \mathcal{H}_0 , we can also define the states whose plaquette variables are not representatives in $\pi_0 \mathcal{C}$. This is achieved by demanding that the contractible loop on a plaquette can be shrunk at the expense of multiplying a scalar factor. Specifically, such a state is defined by



⁴⁵The local commuting projector \hat{B}_p is nothing but the plaquette term of the Levin-Wen model for the input fusion 1-category End(Γ_4) [125].

The left-hand side is well-defined on \mathcal{H}_0 because the right-hand side does not depend on the choice of $x \in \text{Hom}(\Gamma'_4, \Gamma_4)$ when projected onto \mathcal{H}_0 . Indeed, the composite of the loop operator \hat{B}_p^x on the right-hand side and the projector \hat{B}_p is independent of x:

$$\frac{\dim(\Gamma_4')}{\dim(x)}\hat{B}_p\hat{B}_p^x = \sum_{y \in \operatorname{Hom}(\Gamma_4',\Gamma_4)} \frac{\dim(y)}{\operatorname{Dim}(\Gamma_4)}\hat{B}_p^y.$$
(57)

Let us now show that eq. (46) reduces to eq. (51) on \mathcal{H}_0 . To this end, we use the following expression for a simple 1-morphism $\Gamma_{45} : \Gamma_4 \Box \mathcal{F}_{45} \to \Gamma_5$ on the right-hand side of eq. (46):

$$\Gamma_{45} \cong \Gamma'_{45} \circ P \,. \tag{58}$$

Here, *P* is the projection 1-morphism from $\Gamma_4 \Box \mathcal{F}_{45} \cong \coprod \Gamma'_5$ to a fusion channel Γ'_5 and Γ'_{45} is a simple 1-morphism from Γ'_5 to Γ_5 . We note that the fusion channels are uniquely determined only up to isomorphism. Physically, isomorphic fusion channels differ by invertible 2d TFTs stacked to topological surfaces. We can and will always choose the fusion channels properly so that the dimension of the projection 1-morphism *P* agrees with the dimension of its target Γ'_5 , i.e., we have dim(*P*) = dim(Γ'_5). This choice of the fusion channels in particular implies that simple 1-morphisms Γ_{45} and Γ'_{45} have the same dimension. By substituting eq. (58) into the right-hand side of eq. (46) and shrinking the loop of Γ'_{45} , we find

$$\hat{T}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} = \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}} \sum_{\Gamma_{5}', P} \sum_{\Gamma_{45}'} A(\mathcal{F}_{int}) \frac{\dim(\Gamma_{45}')^{2}}{\dim(\Gamma_{5}')\dim(\Gamma_{5}')} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} \Gamma_$$

Due to the equality dim(End(Γ_5)) = $\sum_{\Gamma'_{45} \in \text{Hom}(\Gamma'_5,\Gamma_5)} \text{dim}(\Gamma'_{45})^2/\text{dim}(\Gamma_5)\text{dim}(\Gamma'_5)$, which was shown in [55], the above equation reduces to

$$\hat{T}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{3}} = \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}} \sum_{\Gamma_{5}', P} \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{F}_{int}) \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{5}' \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} \Gamma_{3}' \qquad (60)$$

The right-hand side of the above equation can be written as

$$\sum_{\Gamma_{5}',P} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} = \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} = \Gamma_{6} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{8}} \Gamma_{7} = \Gamma_{6} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{8}} \Gamma_{7} = \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} \Gamma$$

To show this equation, we notice that the fusion of two surfaces Γ_4 and \mathcal{F}_{45} satisfies

$$\Gamma_{4} \Box \mathcal{F}_{45} = \sum_{\Gamma'_{5}, P} c(P) \left| \underbrace{\Gamma'_{5}}_{\Gamma_{4} \Box \mathcal{F}_{45}} \right|_{P} , \qquad (62)$$

for some coefficient $c(P) \in \mathbb{C}$. If we compose the both sides with the inclusion 1-morphism $I : \Gamma'_5 \to \bigoplus \Gamma'_5 \cong \Gamma_4 \Box \mathcal{F}_{45}$, the above equation reduces to

$$\left|\begin{array}{c} \Gamma_{4} \Box \mathcal{F}_{45} \\ \Gamma_{5}' \end{array}\right| = c(P) \qquad \Gamma_{5}' \qquad , \qquad (63)$$

where the projection 1-morphism *P* on the right-hand side is the dual of the inclusion 1-morphism *I* on the left-hand side. One can extract the coefficient c(P) by taking the trace of eq. (63) as $c(P) = \dim(I)/\dim(\Gamma'_5) = 1$, where the last equality follows from $\dim(I) = \dim(P) = \dim(\Gamma'_5)$. Thus, we find that eq. (61) holds,⁴⁶ which then implies eq. (51) due to eq. (60).

4.4 Fusion 2-category symmetry

4.4.1 General case

The graphical representation (51) makes it clear that the 2+1d fusion surface model has a fusion 2-category symmetry. The action of a fusion 2-category symmetry C is defined by the fusion of surface defects and/or line defects to the fusion diagram representing a state, see Figure 16 for a schematic picture of the symmetry action. The commutativity of the Hamiltonian and the symmetry action automatically follows from the coherence conditions for a fusion 2-category symmetries to demonstrate that the fusion surface models actually have symmetries whose actions are defined in the above fashion.

Before proceeding, we emphasize that in general, the action of a fusion 2-category symmetry is well-defined only on the projected state space \mathcal{H}_0 . This is because if we try to define the symmetry action by fusing a topological surface defect to a fusion diagram representing a state, we generically end up with a fusion diagram whose plaquette variables are not in the set of representatives of simple objects. Such a fusion diagram can be canonically identified with a state only on \mathcal{H}_0 as in eq. (56).⁴⁷

4.4.2 Non-invertible 1-form symmetry

The fusion 2-category that describes a (potentially) non-invertible 1-form symmetry is the 2category Mod(\mathcal{B}) of \mathcal{B} -module categories,⁴⁸ where \mathcal{B} is the ribbon 1-category of topological line defects.⁴⁹ The fusion 2-category Mod(\mathcal{B}) has only one connected component of simple objects, whose representative is chosen to be a unit object *I*, i.e., the regular \mathcal{B} -module. The endomorphism category of $I \in Mod(\mathcal{B})$ is equivalent to \mathcal{B} . In a general fusion 2-category \mathcal{C} , the endomorphism category $End_{\mathcal{C}}(I)$ describes the 1-form part of the whole symmetry. The action of the 1-form part of a general fusion 2-category symmetry \mathcal{C} can be defined in the same way as the action of $Mod(\mathcal{B})$ symmetry that we will discuss below. In this subsection, we will focus on the case where $\mathcal{C} = Mod(\mathcal{B})$ for simplicity.

Since the connected component of simple objects of $Mod(\mathcal{B})$ is unique, we do not have dynamical variables on the plaquettes of a honeycomb lattice. Therefore, the dynamical variables of the model are living only on the edges and vertices. These dynamical variables are labeled by simple objects and basis morphisms of a ribbon 1-category \mathcal{B} .

The diagrammatic representation (46) of the Hamiltonian acting on the larger state space

⁴⁶The fact that *P* is the projection 1-morphism from $\Gamma_4 \Box \mathcal{F}_{45}$ to Γ'_5 is not sufficient to show eq. (61) because the left-hand side of eq. (61) depends on the choice of the fusion channels through an isomorphism $\Gamma_4 \Box \mathcal{F}_{45} \cong \bigoplus \Gamma'_5$, whereas the right-hand side does not. Our claim is that eq. (61) is satisfied when each fusion channel Γ'_5 is chosen so that dim(*P*) = dim(Γ'_5).

 $^{^{47}}$ As we will see in Section 4.4.2, the action of line defects is well-defined also on \mathcal{H} because the edge variables are always in the set of representatives.

⁴⁸Here, a 1-form symmetry refers to a symmetry generated by codimension 2 topological defects, which may or may not be invertible. This symmetry reduces to an ordinary (group-like) 1-form symmetry when the topological defects are invertible. In this paper, non-invertible 1-form symmetries are also simply called 1-form symmetries.

⁴⁹The fusion 2-category Mod(\mathcal{B}) is spherical when \mathcal{B} is a ribbon 1-category, see Example 2.3.5 of [55].



Figure 26: A (potentially) non-invertible 1-form symmetry \mathcal{B} acts on states by the fusion of a topological line defect, which is written in light orange in the above figure. We use the *F*-symbols and the *R*-symbols of a ribbon 1-category \mathcal{B} to fuse the line defect with the edges of a honeycomb lattice.

 \mathcal{H} is given by

$$\hat{T}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{68}}_{\Gamma_{26}} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{48}}_{f} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{78}}_{f} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{47}}_{f} = \sum_{\Gamma_{45}} \sum_{\mathcal{F}_{int}} A(\mathcal{F}_{int}) \frac{\dim(\Gamma_{45})}{\mathcal{D}} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{68}}_{\mathcal{F}_{456}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{F}_{458}}_{\mathcal{F}_{457}} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{78}}_{f}, \quad (64)$$

where \mathcal{D} is the total dimension of a ribbon 1-category \mathcal{B} . The right-hand side is evaluated by fusing the loops of Γ_{45} and $\mathcal{F}_{int} = \{\mathcal{F}_{145}, \cdots, \mathcal{F}_{458}\}$ to the nearby edges. The action of the 1-form symmetry is defined by the fusion of topological line defects to the honeycomb lattice as shown in Figure 26. The commutativity of the Hamiltonian and the symmetry action follows from the coherence conditions (i.e., the pentagon and hexagon equations) of a ribbon category. It is straightforward to generalize the action of a line defect illustrated in Figure 26 to the action of a general defect network, which also clearly commutes with the Hamiltonian (64). In particular, we can explicitly define the action of condensation defects on the lattice [56, 68, 166].

We emphasize that the action of $Mod(\mathcal{B})$ symmetry commutes with the Hamiltonian not only on \mathcal{H}_0 but also on \mathcal{H} . This might seem to imply that our 2+1d lattice model has a noninvertible 1-form symmetry $Mod(\mathcal{B})$ on the entire state space \mathcal{H} . However, the symmetry on \mathcal{H} is not the usual 1-form symmetry because the action of a symmetry operator on a contractible loop is non-trivial. Such a symmetry on the lattice is called a 1-symmetry rather than 1-form symmetry in the literature [58, 136]. Therefore, our 2+1d lattice model has a 1-symmetry on the entire state space \mathcal{H} , which reduces to a 1-form symmetry $Mod(\mathcal{B})$ on \mathcal{H}_0 .

We note that the Hamiltonian (64) is factorized into the product of two commuting operators as

$$\hat{T}_p = \hat{B}_p \hat{T}'_p = \hat{T}'_p B_p ,$$
 (65)

where \hat{B}_p and \hat{T}'_p are defined by

$$\hat{B}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{46}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{48}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{78}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{12}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{14}} g \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{13}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{13}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{78}} f \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{78$$

Eq. (66) can be regarded as a special case of eq. (67). Both of the above operators preserve the non-invertible 1-symmetry on \mathcal{H} . In particular, a new Hamiltonian defined by $H' = -\sum_p \hat{T}'_p$ also possesses the same non-invertible 1-symmetry.

4.4.3 Anomalous finite group symmetry

We consider the case of a finite group symmetry G with an anomaly $[\omega] \in H^4(G, U(1))$. A fusion 2-category $2\operatorname{Vec}_G^{\omega}$ describing an anomalous finite group symmetry G consists of simple objects labeled by group elements. The 10-j symbol is given by a 4-cocycle ω as $z_+(\Gamma; [ijklm]) = \omega(\Gamma_{ij}, \Gamma_{jk}, \Gamma_{kl}, \Gamma_{lm})$. Since $2\operatorname{Vec}_G^{\omega}$ does not have non-trivial 1-morphisms and 2-morphisms in the sense that $\operatorname{Hom}_{2\operatorname{Vec}_G^{\omega}}(g,h) \cong \delta_{g,h}$. Vec as a 1-category, we do not have dynamical variables on the edges and vertices of a honeycomb lattice. Thus, the dynamical variables are living only on the plaquettes. The dynamical variable on each plaquette takes values in G.

In order to obtain a non-trivial model with an anomalous finite group symmetry *G*, we need to choose objects ρ , σ , and λ in eq. (28) to be non-simple.⁵⁰ In the following, we choose ρ , σ , and λ to be the sum of all simple objects, i.e., we have

$$\rho = \sigma = \lambda = \bigoplus_{g \in G} g \,. \tag{68}$$

In this case, there are effectively no constraints on the configuration of dynamical variables on the plaquettes. More specifically, the state space \mathcal{H} of the model is given by the tensor product of local Hilbert spaces $\mathbb{C}^{|G|}$ on the plaquettes of the honeycomb lattice. We note that there is no difference between \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}_0 for this example because the local commuting projector \hat{B}_p on each plaquette is the identity operator due to the absence of non-trivial 1-morphisms.

The matrix element (41) of the local Hamiltonian \hat{T}_p is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_{6} \\ g_{2} \\ g_{2} \\ g_{3} \\ g_{2} \\ g_{3} \\ g$$

The diagrammatic representation (51) of the above Hamiltonian clearly shows that this model has an anomalous finite group symmetry whose action is defined by fusing topological surface defects to the honeycomb lattice from above.

Let us explicitly compute the action of a finite group symmetry *G* with anomaly ω .⁵¹ To this end, we precisely define the process of fusing a surface defect labeled by $g \in G$ to the honeycomb lattice from above. As illustrated in Figure 27a, instead of performing the fusion at one time, we first fuse a surface defect to the honeycomb lattice only inside each plaquette. We then slightly deform the surface defect as shown in Figure 27b and perform the partial fusion of the defect around the vertices so that the defect looks like Figure 27c. Removing the small bubbles in Figure 27c completes the fusion of a surface defect. As we discussed in Section 4.3, removing a bubble at a vertex amounts to multiplying the 10-j symbol. More

⁵⁰Objects ρ , σ , and λ were originally supposed to be simple in eq. (28). However, the diagrammatic representation of the model given in Section 4.3 enables us to generalize them to non-simple objects straightforwardly.

⁵¹See [167] for the action of an anomalous finite group symmetry in general dimensions.



Figure 27: We fuse a surface defect to the honeycomb lattice from above by combining (a) the partial fusion, (b) the deformation of the defect, and (c) the bubble removal. The orange region in the above figures represents the region where the surface defect is already fused, while the white region represents the region where the surface defect is not fused yet.

specifically, we have

$$gg_{j} \underbrace{g_{j}}_{g_{i}} \underbrace{gg_{k}}_{gg_{i}} = \omega(g, g_{i}, g_{i}^{-1}g_{j}, g_{j}^{-1}g_{k}) \xrightarrow{gg_{k}}_{gg_{i}},$$

$$gg_{k} \underbrace{gg_{k}}_{gg_{j}} gg_{j} = \omega(g, g_{i}, g_{i}^{-1}g_{j}, g_{j}^{-1}g_{k})^{*} \underbrace{gg_{k}}_{gg_{i}} gg_{j}.$$
(70)

Therefore, the action of $g \in G$ on a general state $|\{g_i\}\rangle$ can be written as

$$\hat{U}_{g}|\{g_{i}\}\rangle = \prod \omega(g, g_{i}, g_{i}^{-1}g_{j}, g_{j}^{-1}g_{k}) \prod \omega(g, g_{i}, g_{i}^{-1}g_{j}, g_{j}^{-1}g_{k})^{*}|\{gg_{i}\}\rangle , \qquad (71)$$

where the first and the second products on the right-hand side are taken over vertices shown in the first and the second equalities in eq. (70). A straightforward calculation shows that the symmetry action (71) commutes with the Hamiltonian (69) due to the cocycle condition on ω . We note that the anomalous finite group symmetry of the Hamiltonian (69) is preserved even if the weight $A(g_4^{-1}g_5)$ also depends on other variables of the form $g_i^{-1}g_j$. In particular, when *G* is anomaly-free, our model reduces to the *G*-symmetric models discussed in [113].

5 Examples

In this section, we discuss several examples of the fusion surface model and its variants. In sections 5.1 and 5.2, we consider the 2+1d lattice models only with 1-symmetries. The 1-symmetries are present on the larger state space \mathcal{H} as we observed in Section 4.4.2. As such, we consider the 2+1d lattice models defined on \mathcal{H} without projecting to the subspace \mathcal{H}_0 . On the other hand, in Section 5.3, we consider the 2+1d lattice models with general fusion 2-category symmetries. Since such symmetries are present only on the projected subspace \mathcal{H}_0 , we need to consider the fusion surface models whose state space is \mathcal{H}_0 rather than \mathcal{H} . In the following, we use 1-symmetry and 1-form symmetry interchangeably when no confusion can arise. For the 2+1d models with 0-form anomalous finite group symmetries, see Section 4.4.3.

5.1 Lattice models with anomalous invertible 1-form symmetries

Let *A* be a finite abelian group. Anomalies of an invertible 1-form symmetry *A* are characterized by the *F*-symbols and *R*-symbols defined by the following equations:



The quantum dimensions of invertible lines are all given by one, i.e., $\dim(a) = 1$ for all $a \in A$. In what follows, we will explicitly write down the Hamiltonian of a lattice model with an anomalous 1-form symmetry *A*.

To define the model, we choose f and g in eq. (28) to be the sum of all group elements $a \in A$, i.e., we have $f = g = \bigoplus_{a \in A} a$. For this choice of f and g, we can take the dynamical variables on different edges independently. Therefore, the state space \mathcal{H} of the model is given by the tensor product of the local Hilbert spaces on all edges: $\mathcal{H} = \bigotimes_{\text{edges}} \mathbb{C}^{|A|}$. The Hamiltonian is of the form $H = -\sum \hat{T}'_p$, where the local Hamiltonian \hat{T}'_p on a plaquette p is generally given by eq. (67).

As an example, we consider the Hamiltonian that consists only of the following three terms:

$$\hat{T}'_{p} = \sum_{a \in A} J_{x}(a) + J_{y}(a) + J_{y}(a) + J_{z}(a) + J_{z}(a)$$

Because of the group-like fusion rules, the labels on the orange edges in the above equation are uniquely determined by the configuration of dynamical variables on the honeycomb lattice. A more general Hamiltonian can be obtained by adding the terms given by the products of operators appearing on the right-hand side. For simplicity, we will focus on the Hamiltonian (73) in the rest of this subsection.

Let us express the above Hamiltonian in terms of F-symbols and R-symbols. To this end, we first resolve the 4-valent vertices in eq. (73) into trivalent vertices as follows:



The labels Γ_{ijk} on the dotted edges are uniquely determined by the fusion rule $\Gamma_{ijk} = \Gamma_{jk}\Gamma_{ij}$. The above resolution of 4-valent vertices enables us to compute each term in eq. (73) as

$$\frac{\Gamma_{46}}{\Gamma_{26}} = \frac{R(\Gamma_{12}, a)F(\Gamma_{26}, \Gamma_{26}^{-1}\Gamma_{246}a^{-1}, a)F(\Gamma_{24}a^{-1}, \Gamma_{12}, a)}{F(\Gamma_{46}, \Gamma_{24}a^{-1}, a)F(\Gamma_{24}a^{-1}, a, \Gamma_{12})F(\Gamma_{14}, \Gamma_{14}^{-1}\Gamma_{124}a^{-1}, a)} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{46}} a^{-1}\Gamma_{24}},$$

$$\frac{\Gamma_{46}}{\Gamma_{26}} = \frac{R(\Gamma_{24}, a)F(\Gamma_{46}, \Gamma_{24}, a)F(\Gamma_{46}, \Gamma_{24}, a)F(\Gamma_{48}, \Gamma_{48}^{-1}\Gamma_{468}, a)}{F(\Gamma_{26}, \Gamma_{26}^{-1}\Gamma_{246}, a)F(\Gamma_{46}, a, \Gamma_{24})F(\Gamma_{68}, \Gamma_{46}, a)} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{68}} \frac{\Gamma_{48}}{\Gamma_{26}},$$

$$\frac{\Gamma_{68}}{\Gamma_{26}} = \frac{\Gamma_{48}}{\Gamma_{24}} = \frac{F(\Gamma_{48}, a, a^{-1}\Gamma_{48}^{-1}\Gamma_{468})}{F(\Gamma_{48}, a, a^{-1}\Gamma_{48}^{-1}\Gamma_{468})} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{68}} \frac{a\Gamma_{48}}{\Gamma_{47}},$$



Figure 28: A honeycomb lattice has three types of edges that we call x-links, y-links, and z-links. These edges are written in red, green, and blue in the above figure.

If we write the above operators as $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_x(a)$, $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_y(a)$, and $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_z(a)$ respectively, the total Hamiltonian of the model can be written as

$$H = -\sum_{a \in A} \left[\sum_{x \text{-links}} J_x(a) \hat{\mathcal{O}}_x(a) + \sum_{y \text{-links}} J_y(a) \hat{\mathcal{O}}_y(a) + \sum_{z \text{-links}} J_z(a) \hat{\mathcal{O}}_z(a) \right],$$
(75)

where *x*-links, *y*-links, and *z*-links are depicted by red, green, and blue edges in Figure 28.

Anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 **1-form symmetry.** As the simplest example, we consider the case of an anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry. There are four possible anomalies of a \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry, which are specified by the following *F*-symbols and *R*-symbols:

$$(F(\eta, \eta, \eta), R(\eta, \eta)) = (1, 1), (1, -1), (-1, i), (-1, -i).$$
(76)

Here, η denotes the generator of \mathbb{Z}_2 . The other components of the *F*-symbols and *R*-symbols are trivial. The \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetries with the above anomalies are called bosonic, fermionic, semionic, and anti-semionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetries respectively.⁵² For each of these \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetries, we can write down the operators $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_x(\eta)$, $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_y(\eta)$, and $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_z(\eta)$ in terms of the Pauli operators.

For a bosonic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry, the operators $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_x(\eta)$, $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_y(\eta)$, and $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_z(\eta)$ are all given by the Pauli *X* operator. Thus, the Hamiltonian (75) can be written graphically as

$$H = -\sum_{x-\text{links}} J_x - \sum_{y-\text{links}} J_y - \sum_{z-\text{links}} J_z X - \sum_{z-\text{links}} J_z X$$
(77)

where the parameters $J_x := J_x(\eta)$, $J_y := J_y(\eta)$, and $J_z := J_z(\eta)$ are real numbers so that the above Hamiltonian satisfies the Hermiticity condition (43). Here and in the rest of this subsection, we set $J_x(1)$, $J_y(1)$, and $J_z(1)$ to zero for the unit element $1 \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ without loss of generality. The above model realizes a trivial phase with bosonic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry.

For a fermionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry, the Hamiltonian (75) can be written as

$$H = -\sum_{x-\text{links}} J_x - \sum_{y-\text{links}} J_y - \sum_{z-\text{links}} J_z - \sum_$$

The parameters J_x , J_y , and J_z are again chosen to be real due to the Hermiticity condition (43). We note that the qubits on the *z*-links are decoupled from those on the *x*-links and *y*-links. In particular, the qubits on the *z*-links have a uniquely gapped ground state given by a

 $^{^{52}}$ The bosonic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry is non-anomalous, whereas the others are anomalous.

trivial product state. Therefore, in the low-energy limit, the above Hamiltonian reduces to the stacking of decoupled 1+1d quantum spin chains consisting of the qubits on the *x*-links and *y*-links. These quantum spin chains can be coupled to the qubits on the *z*-links by adding the terms such as $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_x(\eta)\hat{\mathcal{O}}_z(\eta)$ and $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_v(\eta)\hat{\mathcal{O}}_z(\eta)$.

For a semionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry, the Hamiltonian (75) can be written as

$$H = -\sum_{x-\text{links}} J_x \xrightarrow[i^{(1-Z)/2}]{CZ} CZ - \sum_{y-\text{links}} J_y \xrightarrow[z^{(1-Z)/2}]{CZ} CZ - \sum_{z-\text{links}} J_z \xrightarrow[i^{(1-Z)/2}]{CZ} CZ - \sum_{z-\text{links}} J_z \xrightarrow[z^{(1-Z)/2}]{CZ} CZ - \sum_{z-\text{links}} Z_z \xrightarrow[z^{(1-Z)/2}]{CZ} - \sum_{z-\text{link}} Z_z \xrightarrow[z^{(1-Z)/2}]{CZ} - \sum_{z-\text{link}}$$

where *CZ* denotes the controlled-*Z* operator that acts on the qubits on the two edges connected by a small arc. The Pauli *X* operator in each term acts on the middle edge after the sequence of the controlled-*Z* and the Pauli *Z* operators. We note that the Hamiltonian (79) is not Hermitian when the Hermiticity condition (43) is satisfied, namely, when J_x , J_y , and J_z are real numbers. This indicates that the Hermiticity condition (43) is invalid for a semionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry. This is because the generator η of a semionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry has a non-trivial Frobenius-Schur indicator, which violates the assumption used in the derivation of the Hermiticity condition (43). We can make the Hamiltonian (79) Hermitian by taking a linear combination of *H* and its Hermitian conjugate H^{\dagger} . Adding H^{\dagger} to the original Hamiltonian *H* does not break the semionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry because H^{\dagger} commutes with the symmetry action when *H* does. Similar arguments apply to the case of an anti-semionic \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry.

5.2 Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field

The Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field is an exactly solvable model of qubits on a honeycomb lattice, which exhibits an abelian topological order or a gapless excitation depending on the parameter of the model [168]. As we will see below, this model can be obtained as a variant of the 2+1d fusion surface model.

The fusion 2-category that we use as an input is the 2-category Mod(Ising) of Ising-module categories, where Ising denotes the modular tensor category describing the Ising TQFT. The Ising category consists of three simple objects $\{1, \eta, \sigma\}$, which are subject to the following fusion rules:

$$\eta \otimes \eta \cong 1, \quad \eta \otimes \sigma \cong \sigma \otimes \eta \cong \sigma, \quad \sigma \otimes \sigma \cong 1 \oplus \eta.$$

$$(80)$$

The non-trivial F-symbols and R-symbols are summarized as follows [168]:

$$(F_{\eta}^{\sigma\eta\sigma})_{\sigma\sigma} = (F_{\sigma}^{\eta\sigma\eta})_{\sigma\sigma} = -1, \quad (F_{\sigma}^{\sigma\sigma\sigma})_{11} = (F_{\sigma}^{\sigma\sigma\sigma})_{1\eta} = (F_{\sigma}^{\sigma\sigma\sigma})_{\eta1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad (F_{\sigma}^{\sigma\sigma\sigma})_{\eta\eta} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \\ R_{1}^{\eta\eta} = -1, \quad R_{\sigma}^{\eta\sigma} = R_{\sigma}^{\sigma\eta} = -i, \quad R_{1}^{\sigma\sigma} = e^{-i\pi/8}, \quad R_{\eta}^{\sigma\sigma} = e^{3i\pi/8}.$$

$$(81)$$

As discussed in full generality in Section 4.4.2, 1-endomorphisms of the unit object of the fusion 2-category Mod(Ising) form the Ising category. In particular, simple 1-morphisms of Mod(Ising) are labeled by simple objects 1, η , and σ of Ising. We note that the invertible object η generates an anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry.

In order to obtain the Kitaev honeycomb model as a variant of the fusion surface model, we choose both f and g in eq. (28) to be σ . Furthermore, we fix the labels on the edges of the honeycomb lattice to σ , or in other words, we only consider the sector where all edges are labeled by σ . We note that the restriction to this sector violates the Ising 1-form symmetry, but still preserves the anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry generated by η . The dynamical variables in this sector are living only on the vertices of the honeycomb lattice. The local Hilbert space on

each vertex is given by $\text{Hom}(\sigma \otimes \sigma, \sigma \otimes \sigma) \cong \mathbb{C}^2$, which means that we have a qubit on each vertex. The total Hilbert space of the model is given by the tensor product of the local Hilbert spaces on all vertices.

We define the local Hamiltonian on each plaquette as

where the green edges are all labeled by σ . Coupling constants J_x , J_y , and J_z have to be real due to the Hermiticity condition (43). We note that the above Hamiltonian is an example of the local Hamiltonian (67) except that the labels on the edges in eq. (82) are fixed, whereas those in eq. (67) are dynamical. For computational purposes, we resolve each 4-valent vertex into two trivalent vertices as follows:

$$\Gamma_{468} \Gamma_{478} \Gamma_{478} = \Gamma_{246} \Gamma_{478} \Gamma_{347} \ldots$$
(83)

Qubits on the left-hand side are living on the 4-valent vertices, whereas qubits on the righthand side are living on the black edges. The qubits on the right-hand side are denoted by the same letters as the qubits on the left-hand side. After the resolution of the 4-valent vertices, we can evaluate each term on the right-hand side of eq. (82) as



In terms of the Pauli operators, we can write the above operators as $-Y_{124}X_{246}$, $Y_{246}X_{468}$, and $Z_{468}Z_{478}$ respectively, where X_{ijk} , Y_{ijk} , and Z_{ijk} denote the Pauli *X*, *Y*, and *Z* operators acting on the qubit Γ_{ijk} . If we rotate the bases of qubits Γ_{124} and Γ_{468} by $\pi/4$, the first and the second operators become $X_{124}X_{246}$ and $Y_{246}Y_{468}$ respectively. Therefore, the Hamiltonian in the rotated basis can be written as

$$H = -\sum_{x-\text{links}} J_x X_i X_j - \sum_{y-\text{links}} J_y Y_i Y_j - \sum_{z-\text{links}} J_z Z_i Z_j,$$
(84)

where *x*-links, *y*-links, and *z*-links are three different types of edges shown in Figure 28. The above is the Hamiltonian of the Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field [168]. Remarkably, our formulation makes the anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry of the Kitaev honeycomb model manifest. The symmetry operator on a closed loop indeed agrees with the loop operator defined in Kitaev's original paper [168]. This symmetry guarantees that the Kitaev honeycomb model without a magnetic field realizes non-trivial phases everywhere in the phase diagram. We note that applying a magnetic field explicitly breaks the anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry.

5.3 Non-chiral topological phases with fusion 2-category symmetries

In this subsection, we will sketch out how to obtain the 2+1d fusion surface models that realize non-chiral topological phases with fusion 2-category symmetries. As we discussed in Section 4, the fusion surface model is the quantum counterpart of the 3d height model, which is obtained by putting the 4d Douglas-Reutter TFT on a slab as shown in Figure 18. The dynamics of the fusion surface model is determined by the choice of a decorated boundary condition on the right boundary of the slab. In particular, when the decorated boundary is topological, the corresponding fusion surface model realizes a topological phase with fusion 2-category symmetry.

Dirichlet boundary and spontaneous symmetry breaking. The simplest example of a topological boundary condition is the Dirichlet boundary condition, which is defined by the trivial coloring on the decorated boundary. Specifically, for the Dirichlet boundary condition, the simple objects ρ , σ , λ , and the simple 1-morphisms f, g in eq. (28) are the unit object I and the identity 1-morphism 1_I respectively. This implies that the graphical representation (44) of a state is given by a planar fusion diagram on a honeycomb lattice. We note that all the plaquettes of the honeycomb lattice are labeled by the same simple object because the simple objects on the adjacent plaquettes have to be connected. Therefore, the state space \mathcal{H}_0 splits into sectors labeled by (representatives of connected components of) simple objects of a fusion 2-category C, namely, we have $\mathcal{H}_0 = \bigoplus_{X \in \pi_0 C} \mathcal{H}_0^X$. Each sector \mathcal{H}_0^X is the image of the projector $\prod_p \hat{B}_p$, where \hat{B}_p is the plaquette operator defined by

$$\hat{B}_p \xrightarrow{X} X \xrightarrow{X} X = \sum_{x \in \text{End}(X)} \frac{\|x\|}{\dim(\text{End}(X))} \xrightarrow{X} X \xrightarrow{X} X$$
(85)

Here, $||x|| = \dim(x)/\dim(X)$ is the norm of a simple 1-morphism x, i.e., the quantum dimension of x viewed as a simple object of a fusion 1-category $\operatorname{End}(X)$. The Hamiltonian (51) acting on the state space \mathcal{H}_0 is (proportional to) the identity operator because the weight $A(\mathcal{F}_{int})$ is zero when the coloring \mathcal{F}_{int} is non-trivial. Thus, the ground state subspace of the model is \mathcal{H}_0 itself. Since the plaquette operator (85) is the same as that of the Levin-Wen model for an input fusion 1-category $\operatorname{End}(X)$ [125], each sector \mathcal{H}_0^X of our model realizes a non-chiral topological order described by the Drinfeld center $Z(\operatorname{End}(X))$ of $\operatorname{End}(X)$.⁵³ The non-chiral topological orders realized on different sectors are mixed by the action of a fusion 2-category symmetry \mathcal{C} . Physically, this means that the fusion 2-category symmetry \mathcal{C} is spontaneously broken.

We note that the projection to \mathcal{H}_0 can also be implemented dynamically by the Hamiltonian $H = -\sum_p \hat{B}_p$ acting on a larger state space \mathcal{H} spanned by all possible fusion diagrams on the honeycomb lattice. However, in this case, the fusion 2-category symmetry is not exact on the lattice but emergent in the low-energy limit.

General topological boundaries and non-chiral topological phases. A more general topological boundary condition gives rise to a more general topological phase with fusion 2-category symmetry. In general, topological boundaries of the Douglas-Reutter TFT DR(C) that give rise to non-chiral topological phases with C symmetry are expected to be in one-to-one correspondence with (the equivalence classes of) finite semisimple module 2-categories over C.⁵⁴

⁵³The constraints from the vertex terms of the Levin-Wen model are already imposed on the state space.

⁵⁴This is a 4d analogue of the fact that topological boundaries of 3d Turaev-Viro TFT are in one-to-one correspondence with (the equivalence classes of) finite semisimple module categories over the input fusion 1-category

Since (the equivalence classes of) finite semisimple module 2-categories over C are in one-toone correspondence with (the Morita equivalence classes of) separable algebras in C [171],⁵⁵ there should also be a one-to-one correspondence between non-chiral topological boundaries of DR(C) and separable algebras in C. In particular, the Dirichlet boundary corresponds to the trivial algebra $I \in C$. A general non-chiral topological boundary would be realized by condensing a separable algebra $A \in C$ on the Dirichlet boundary. In other words, the coloring \mathcal{F} on a non-chiral topological boundary would be given by the condensation of a separable algebra A, which is a fine mesh of topological surfaces labeled by A [56,147,173]. Indeed, as we will see below, when the coloring \mathcal{F} is the condensation of a separable algebra $A \in C$, the corresponding 2+1d fusion surface model has a commuting projector Hamiltonian, which suggests that the model realizes a non-chiral topological phase with fusion 2-category symmetry C.

In order to obtain the 2+1d fusion surface models for general non-chiral topological phases, we first briefly recall the definition of a separable algebra in a fusion 2-category C [174]. An algebra A in C is an object equipped with a multiplication 1-morphism $m : A \Box A \rightarrow A$ that is associative up to coherence 2-isomorphism μ satisfying⁵⁶



An algebra $A \in C$ is called a rigid algebra if the multiplication 1-morphism $m : A \Box A \rightarrow A$ has a dual 1-morphism $m^* : A \rightarrow A \Box A$. There are a lot of coherence conditions associated with this duality, which we assume implicitly in the following, see [174, 175] for the precise definition. A rigid algebra $A \in C$ is called a separable algebra if the multiplication 1-morphism m and its dual m^* satisfy the following conditions:



The 2-morphisms in eq. (88) should be regarded as appropriate duals of the associativity 2-isomorphism μ and its inverse μ^{-1} . By a slight abuse of notation, we write these 2-isomorphisms simply as μ and μ^{-1} in the above equation.⁵⁷ It is conjectured in [176] and is

^{[19, 122, 123, 142, 143].} For the 4d Dijkgraaf-Witten theory, the correspondence between topological boundaries and module 2-categories over 2Vec_G is studied in, e.g., [169, 170].

⁵⁵This is a categorified version of Ostrik's theorem [172].

⁵⁶Precisely, an algebra in a fusion 2-category is also equipped with a 1-morphism $i : I \rightarrow A$ that satisfies the unitality condition up to coherence 2-isomorphism. We will not use this datum explicitly in the following discussions.

⁵⁷These 2-isomorphisms are denoted by ψ^l and ψ^r in [174].

proven in [177] that rigid algebras in a fusion 2-category over \mathbb{C} are automatically separable. We note that separable algebras are closely related to the orbifold data of 3d topological field theories [147, 173].

Based on the above definition of a separable algebra, we now write down the Hamiltonians of the fusion surface models that realize non-chiral topological phases with fusion 2-category symmetry C. As we mentioned above, the fusion surface model for a non-chiral topological phase is obtained by choosing the coloring \mathcal{F} to be the condensation of a separable algebra $A \in C$, i.e., $\mathcal{F}_{ij} = A$, $\mathcal{F}_{ijk} = m$, and $\mathcal{F}_{ijkl} = \mu$. The Hamiltonian of this model is given by $H = -\sum_p \hat{T}_p$, where the local Hamiltonian \hat{T}_p is represented by the following fusion diagram:

$$\hat{T}_{p} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{4} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{3}} \Gamma_{7} = \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{4}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{5}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{6}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}} \Gamma_{7} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{7}}$$

Here, we suppose that the state space of the model is \mathcal{H}_0 rather than \mathcal{H} so that the model has an exact fusion 2-category symmetry. It is obvious that the plaquette term \hat{T}_p commute with another plaquette term $\hat{T}_{p'}$ when the plaquettes p and p' are apart from each other. The commutativity of \hat{T}_p and $\hat{T}_{p'}$ for adjacent plaquettes also follows from eqs. (86) and (88). For example, we have

$$\hat{T}_p \hat{T}_{p'} = \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & & & \\ & & \\ & & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\$$

Furthermore, the plaquette term \hat{T}_p is a projector, which means that it satisfies

$$\hat{T}_p^2 = \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} (91)$$

Here, we used eqs. (86) and (87) in the first and the third equalities respectively. The second equality follows from the identity $\mu^{-1}\mu = \mu\mu^{-1} = id$. Thus, we find that the 2+1d fusion surface model obtained from a separable algebra $A \in C$ has a commuting projector Hamiltonian, which strongly suggests that this model realizes a non-chiral topological phase with fusion 2-category symmetry C.

Let us finally consider some simple examples. When C is the 2-category 2Vec of finite semisimple 1-categories, separable algebras are given by multifusion 1-categories [174]. In this case, we expect that eq. (89) reduces to the Hamiltonian of the Levin-Wen model, which realizes the most general non-chiral topological order without symmetry.⁵⁸ More generally, when C is the 2-category 2Vec_G of *G*-graded finite semisimple 1-categories, separable algebras

⁵⁸The original Levin-Wen model takes a fusion 1-category as an input [125]. The Levin-Wen model whose input is a multifusion 1-category is investigated in [178].

are given by *G*-graded multifusion 1-categories [174]. In this case, we expect that eq. (89) reduces to the Hamiltonian of the symmetry enriched Levin-Wen model [179, 180], which realizes the most general non-chiral topological order enriched by a finite group symmetry G [3].

Acknowledgments

Funding information KI is supported by FoPM, WINGS Program, the University of Tokyo, and also by JSPS Research Fellowship for Young Scientists. KO is supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid No.22K13969 and the Simons Collaboration on Global Categorical Symmetries.

References

- [1] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, *Generalized global symmetries*, J. High Energy Phys. **02**, 172 (2015), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2015)172.
- [2] A. Kapustin and R. Thorngren, *Higher symmetry and gapped phases of gauge theories*, in *Algebra, geometry, and physics in the 21st century*, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783319599380 (2017), doi:10.1007/978-3-319-59939-7 5.
- [3] M. Barkeshli, P. Bonderson, M. Cheng and Z. Wang, Symmetry fractionalization, defects, and gauging of topological phases, Phys. Rev. B 100, 115147 (2019), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevB.100.115147.
- [4] C. Córdova, T. T. Dumitrescu and K. Intriligator, *Exploring 2-group global symmetries*, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 184 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2019)184.
- [5] F. Benini, C. Córdova and P.-S. Hsin, On 2-group global symmetries and their anomalies, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 118 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2019)118.
- [6] L. Bhardwaj and Y. Tachikawa, On finite symmetries and their gauging in two dimensions, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 189 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2018)189.
- [7] C.-M. Chang, Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, Y. Wang and X. Yin, *Topological defect lines and renormalization group flows in two dimensions*, J. High Energy Phys. 01, 026 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2019)026.
- [8] M. Pretko, X. Chen and Y. You, Fracton phases of matter, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 35, 2030003 (2020), doi:10.1142/S0217751X20300033.
- [9] P. Etingof, S. Gelaki, D. Nikshych and V. Ostrik, *Tensor categories*, American Mathematical Society, Providence, USA, ISBN 9781470420246 (2015), doi:10.1090/surv/205.
- [10] A. Davydov, L. Kong and I. Runkel, Field theories with defects and the centre functor, in Mathematical foundations of quantum field theory and perturbative string theory, American Mathematical Society, Providence, USA, ISBN 9780821851951 (2011), doi:10.1090/pspum/083.
- [11] J. Brundan and A. P. Ellis, Monoidal supercategories, Commun. Math. Phys. 351, 1045 (2017), doi:10.1007/s00220-017-2850-9.
- [12] R. Usher, Fermionic 6j-symbols in superfusion categories, J. Algebra 503, 453 (2018), doi:10.1016/j.jalgebra.2018.02.015.

- S. Novak and I. Runkel, Spin from defects in two-dimensional quantum field theory, J. Math. Phys. 61, 063510 (2020), doi:10.1063/1.5129435.
- [14] I. Runkel and G. M. T. Watts, *Fermionic CFTs and classifying algebras*, J. High Energy Phys. **06**, 025 (2020), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2020)025.
- [15] J. Lou, C. Shen, C. Chen and L.-Y. Hung, A (dummy's) guide to working with gapped boundaries via (fermion) condensation, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 171 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2021)171.
- [16] K. Inamura, Fermionization of fusion category symmetries in 1+1 dimensions, J. High energy Phys. 10, 101 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2023)101.
- [17] C.-M. Chang, J. Chen and F. Xu, *Topological defect lines in two dimensional fermionic CFTs*, SciPost Phys. **15**, 216 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.5.216.
- [18] I. Runkel, L. Szegedy and G. M. T. Watts, Parity and spin CFT with boundaries and defects, SciPost Phys. 15, 207 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.5.207.
- [19] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, *Fusion category symmetry. Part I. Anomaly in-flow and gapped phases*, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 132 (2024), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2024)132.
- [20] E. Verlinde, Fusion rules and modular transformations in 2D conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 300, 360 (1988), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90603-7.
- [21] V. B. Petkova and J.-B. Zuber, Generalised twisted partition functions, Phys. Lett. B 504, 157 (2001), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(01)00276-3.
- [22] J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, TFT construction of RCFT correlators I: Partition functions, Nucl. Phys. B 646, 353 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(02)00744-7.
- [23] J. Fröhlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, *Kramers-Wannier duality from conformal defects*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **93**, 070601 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.070601.
- [24] J. Fröhlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, Duality and defects in rational conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 763, 354 (2007), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2006.11.017.
- [25] J. Fuchs, M. R. Gaberdiel, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, *Topological defects for the free boson CFT*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 40, 11403 (2007), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/40/37/016.
- [26] J. Fröhlich, J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, Defect lines, dualities and generalised orbifolds, World Scientific, Singapore, ISBN 9789814304627 (2010), doi:10.1142/9789814304634 0056.
- [27] N. Carqueville and I. Runkel, Orbifold completion of defect bicategories, Quantum Topol. 7, 203 (2016), doi:10.4171/QT/76.
- [28] I. Brunner, N. Carqueville and D. Plencner, Orbifolds and topological defects, Commun. Math. Phys. 332, 669 (2014), doi:10.1007/s00220-014-2056-3.
- [29] I. Brunner, N. Carqueville and D. Plencner, A quick guide to defect orbifolds, in Stringmath 2013, American Mathematical Society, Providence, USA, ISBN 9781470410513 (2014), doi:10.1090/pspum/088/01456.
- [30] I. Brunner, N. Carqueville and D. Plencner, *Discrete torsion defects*, Commun. Math. Phys. **337**, 429 (2015), doi:10.1007/s00220-015-2297-9.

- [31] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, *Duality defect of the monster CFT*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **54**, 065201 (2021), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/abd69e.
- [32] Z. Komargodski, K. Ohmori, K. Roumpedakis and S. Seifnashri, Symmetries and strings of adjoint QCD₂, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 103 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2021)103.
- [33] D. Aasen, P. Fendley and R. S. K. Mong, *Topological defects on the lattice: Dualities and degeneracies*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2008.08598.
- [34] C.-M. Chang and Y.-H. Lin, *Lorentzian dynamics and factorization beyond rationality*, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 125 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2021)125.
- [35] T.-C. Huang and Y.-H. Lin, *Topological field theory with Haagerup symmetry*, J. Math. Phys. **63**, 042306 (2022), doi:10.1063/5.0079062.
- [36] K. Inamura, Topological field theories and symmetry protected topological phases with fusion category symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 204 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2021)204.
- [37] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, *Fusion category symmetry II: Categoriosities at* c = 1 *and beyond*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2106.12577.
- [38] K. Kikuchi, *Symmetry enhancement in RCFT*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2109.02672.
- [39] T.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Lin and S. Seifnashri, Construction of two-dimensional topological field theories with non-invertible symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 028 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2021)028.
- [40] T.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Lin, K. Ohmori, Y. Tachikawa and M. Tezuka, Numerical evidence for a Haagerup conformal field theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 231603 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.231603.
- [41] R. Vanhove, L. Lootens, M. Van Damme, R. Wolf, T. J. Osborne, J. Haegeman and F. Verstraete, *Critical lattice model for a Haagerup conformal field theory*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 231602 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.231602.
- [42] K. Inamura, On lattice models of gapped phases with fusion category symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 036 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2022)036.
- [43] I. M. Burbano, J. Kulp and J. Neuser, *Duality defects in* E₈, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 186 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2022)187.
- [44] L. Lootens, C. Delcamp, G. Ortiz and F. Verstraete, Dualities in one-dimensional quantum lattice models: Symmetric Hamiltonians and matrix product operator intertwiners, PRX Quantum 4, 020357 (2023), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.4.020357.
- [45] J. Garre-Rubio, L. Lootens and A. Molnár, Classifying phases protected by matrix product operator symmetries using matrix product states, Quantum 7, 927 (2023), doi:10.22331/q-2023-02-21-927.
- [46] Y.-H. Lin, M. Okada, S. Seifnashri and Y. Tachikawa, Asymptotic density of states in 2d CFTs with non-invertible symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 094 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2023)094.
- [47] D.-C. Lu and Z. Sun, On triality defects in 2d CFT, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 173 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2023)173.

- [48] L. Lootens, C. Delcamp and F. Verstraete, Dualities in one-dimensional quantum lattice models: Topological sectors, PRX Quantum 5, 010338 (2024), doi:10.1103/PRXQuantum.5.010338.
- [49] X. Gu, B. Haghighat and Y. Liu, *Ising-like and Fibonacci anyons from KZ-equations*, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 015 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2022)015.
- [50] S.-Q. Ning, B.-B. Mao and C. Wang, *Building 1D lattice models with G-graded fusion category*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2301.06416.
- [51] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, Bootstrapping noninvertible symmetries, Phys. Rev. D 107, 125025 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.107.125025.
- [52] C. Zhang and C. Córdova, *Anomalies of* (1 + 1)D *categorical symmetries*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2304.01262.
- [53] A. Feiguin, S. Trebst, A. W. W. Ludwig, M. Troyer, A. Kitaev, Z. Wang and M. H. Freedman, *Interacting anyons in topological quantum liquids: The golden chain*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 160409 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.160409.
- [54] M. Buican and A. Gromov, Anyonic chains, topological defects, and conformal field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 356, 1017 (2017), doi:10.1007/s00220-017-2995-6.
- [55] C. L. Douglas and D. J. Reutter, Fusion 2-categories and a state-sum invariant for 4manifolds, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1812.11933.
- [56] D. Gaiotto and T. Johnson-Freyd, Condensations in higher categories, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1905.09566.
- [57] T. Johnson-Freyd, On the classification of topological orders, Commun. Math. Phys. 393, 989 (2022), doi:10.1007/s00220-022-04380-3.
- [58] L. Kong, T. Lan, X.-G. Wen, Z.-H. Zhang and H. Zheng, Algebraic higher symmetry and categorical symmetry: A holographic and entanglement view of symmetry, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 043086 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.043086.
- [59] M. Koide, Y. Nagoya and S. Yamaguchi, Non-invertible topological defects in 4dimensional Z₂ pure lattice gauge theory, Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys. 013B03 (2021), doi:10.1093/ptep/ptab145.
- [60] Y. Tachikawa, On gauging finite subgroups, SciPost Phys. 8, 015 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.8.1.015.
- [61] T. Rudelius and S.-H. Shao, *Topological operators and completeness of spectrum in discrete gauge theories*, J. High Energy Phys. **12**, 172 (2020), doi:10.1007/jhep12(2020)172.
- [62] M. Nguyen, Y. Tanizaki and M. Ünsal, Semi-Abelian gauge theories, non-invertible symmetries, and string tensions beyond N-ality, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 238 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2021)238.
- [63] Y. Choi, C. Córdova, P.-S. Hsin, H. T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Noninvertible duality defects in 3+1 dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 105, 125016 (2022), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevD.105.125016.
- [64] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori and Y. Zheng, *Kramers-Wannier-like duality defects in* (3 + 1)D gauge theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. **128**, 111601 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.111601.

- [65] B. Heidenreich, J. McNamara, M. Montero, M. Reece, T. Rudelius and I. Valenzuela, *Non-invertible global symmetries and completeness of the spectrum*, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 203 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2021)203.
- [66] J. Wang and Y.-Z. You, Gauge enhanced quantum criticality between grand unifications: Categorical higher symmetry retraction, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2111.10369.
- [67] C. Córdova, K. Ohmori and T. Rudelius, Generalized symmetry breaking scales and weak gravity conjectures, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 154 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2022)154.
- [68] K. Roumpedakis, S. Seifnashri and S.-H. Shao, *Higher gauging and non-invertible condensation defects*, Commun. Math. Phys. **401**, 3043 (2023), doi:10.1007/s00220-023-04706-9.
- [69] J. McGreevy, Generalized symmetries in condensed matter, Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys. 14, 57 (2023), doi:10.1146/annurev-conmatphys-040721-021029.
- [70] L. Bhardwaj, L. E. Bottini, S. Schäfer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, Non-invertible higher-categorical symmetries, SciPost Phys. 14, 007 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPost-Phys.14.1.007.
- [71] G. Arias-Tamargo and D. Rodríguez-Gómez, Non-invertible symmetries from discrete gauging and completeness of the spectrum, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 093 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2023)093.
- [72] Y. Hayashi and Y. Tanizaki, Non-invertible self-duality defects of Cardy-Rabinovici model and mixed gravitational anomaly, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 036 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2022)036.
- [73] Y. Choi, C. Córdova, P.-S. Hsin, H. T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Non-invertible condensation, duality, and triality defects in 3 + 1 dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 402, 489 (2023), doi:10.1007/s00220-023-04727-4.
- [74] J. Kaidi, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, *Non-invertible symmetries of* $\mathcal{N} = 4$ *SYM and twisted compactification*, J. High Energy Phys. **08**, 053 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2022)053.
- Y. Choi, H. T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Noninvertible global symmetries in the Standard Model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129, 161601 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.129.161601.
- [76] C. Córdova and K. Ohmori, *Noninvertible chiral symmetry and exponential hierarchies*, Phys. Rev. X **13**, 011034 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.13.011034.
- [77] C. Córdova, T. T. Dumitrescu, K. Intriligator and S.-H. Shao, Snowmass white paper: Generalized symmetries in quantum field theory and beyond, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2205.09545.
- [78] A. Antinucci, G. Galati and G. Rizi, On continuous 2-category symmetries and Yang-Mills theory, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 061 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2022)061.
- [79] V. Bashmakov, M. Del Zotto and A. Hasan, On the 6d origin of non-invertible symmetries in 4d, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 161 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2023)161.
- [80] J. A. Damia, R. Argurio and L. Tizzano, Continuous generalized symmetries in three dimensions, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 164 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2023)164.

- [81] J. A. Damia, R. Argurio and E. Garcia Valdecasas, Non-invertible defects in 5d, boundaries and holography, SciPost Phys. 14, 067 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.14.4.067.
- [82] Y. Choi, H. T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, *Noninvertible time-reversal symmetry*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130, 131602 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.130.131602.
- [83] L. Bhardwaj, S. Schäfer-Nameki and J. Wu, Universal non-invertible symmetries, Fortschr. Phys. 70, 2200143 (2022), doi:10.1002/prop.202200143.
- [84] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, A. E. V. Ferrari and J. Pearson, *Non-invertible symmetries and higher representation theory I*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2208.05993.
- [85] L. Lin, D. G. Robbins and E. Sharpe, Decomposition, condensation defects, and fusion, Fortschr. Phys. 70, 2200130 (2022), doi:10.1002/prop.202200130.
- [86] I. García Etxebarria, Branes and non-invertible symmetries, Fortschr. Phys. 70, 2200154 (2022), doi:10.1002/prop.202200154.
- [87] F. Apruzzi, I. Bah, F. Bonetti and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Noninvertible symmetries from holography and branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130, 121601 (2023), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevLett.130.121601.
- [88] M. Barkeshli, Y.-A. Chen, S.-J. Huang, R. Kobayashi, N. Tantivasadakarn and G. Zhu, *Codimension-2 defects and higher symmetries in* (3 + 1)D *topological phases*, SciPost Phys. 14, 065 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.14.4.065.
- [89] C. Delcamp, *A toy model for categorical charges*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2208.07361.
- [90] J. J. Heckman, M. Hübner, E. Torres and H. Y. Zhang, *The branes behind generalized symmetry operators*, Fortschr. Phys. **71**, 2200180 (2022), doi:10.1002/prop.202200180.
- [91] D. S. Freed, G. W. Moore and C. Teleman, *Topological symmetry in quantum field theory*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2209.07471.
- [92] P. Niro, K. Roumpedakis and O. Sela, *Exploring non-invertible symmetries in free theories*, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 005 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2023)005.
- [93] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori and Y. Zheng, Symmetry TFTs for non-invertible defects, Commun. Math. Phys. 404, 1021 (2023), doi:10.1007/s00220-023-04859-7.
- [94] N. Mekareeya and M. Sacchi, Mixed anomalies, two-groups, non-invertible symmetries, and 3d superconformal indices, J. High Energy Phys. 01, 115 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2023)115.
- [95] A. Antinucci, F. Benini, C. Copetti, G. Galati and G. Rizi, *The holography of non-invertible self-duality symmetries*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2210.09146.
- [96] S. Chen and Y. Tanizaki, Solitonic symmetry beyond homotopy: Invertibility from bordism and noninvertibility from topological quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 131, 011602 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.131.011602.
- [97] V. Bashmakov, M. Del Zotto, A. Hasan and J. Kaidi, Non-invertible symmetries of class S theories, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 225 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2023)225.
- [98] A. Karasik, On anomalies and gauging of U(1) non-invertible symmetries in 4d QED, Sci-Post Phys. **15**, 002 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.1.002.

- [99] C. Córdova, S. Hong, S. Koren and K. Ohmori, Neutrino masses from generalized symmetry breaking, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2211.07639.
- [100] T. D. Décoppet and M. Yu, *Gauging noninvertible defects: A 2-categorical perspective*, Lett. Math. Phys. **113**, 36 (2023), doi:10.1007/s11005-023-01655-1.
- [101] I. García Etxebarria and N. Iqbal, A Goldstone theorem for continuous non-invertible symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 145 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2023)145.
- [102] Y. Choi, H. T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, *Non-invertible Gauss law and axions*, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 067 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2023)067.
- [103] R. Yokokura, Non-invertible symmetries in axion electrodynamics, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2212.05001.
- [104] L. Bhardwaj, S. Schäfer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, *Unifying constructions of non-invertible symmetries*, SciPost Phys. **15**, 122 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.3.122.
- [105] L. Bhardwaj, L. E. Bottini, S. Schäfer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, *Non-invertible symmetry* webs, SciPost Phys. **15**, 160 (2023), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.15.4.160.
- [106] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, A. E. V. Ferrari and J. Pearson, *Non-invertible symmetries and higher representation theory II*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2212.07393.
- [107] P.-S. Hsin, Non-invertible defects in nonlinear sigma models and coupling to topological orders, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2212.08608.
- [108] A. Das, N. Iqbal and N. Poovuttikul, *Towards an effective action for chiral magnetohydrodynamics*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2212.09787.
- [109] J. J. Heckman, M. Hübner, E. Torres, X. Yu and H. Y. Zhang, Top down approach to topological duality defects, Phys. Rev. D 108, 046015 (2023), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevD.108.046015.
- [110] A. Antinucci, C. Copetti, G. Galati and G. Rizi, "Zoology" of non-invertible duality defects: The view from class S, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 036 (2024), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2024)036.
- [111] A. Apte, C. Córdova and H. T. Lam, *Obstructions to gapped phases from noninvertible symmetries*, Phys. Rev. B **108**, 045134 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.108.045134.
- [112] E. García-Valdecasas, *Non-invertible symmetries in supergravity*, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 102 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2023)102.
- [113] C. Delcamp and A. Tiwari, *Higher categorical symmetries and gauging in two-dimensional spin systems*, SciPost Phys. **16**, 110 (2024), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.16.4.110.
- [114] J. Kaidi, E. Nardoni, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, Symmetry TFTs and anomalies of non-invertible symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 053 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2023)053.
- [115] M. Etheredge, I. García Etxebarria, B. Heidenreich and S. Rauch, *Branes* and symmetries for $\mathcal{N} = 3$ *S*-folds, J. High Energy Phys. **09**, 005 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP09(2023)005.
- [116] P. Putrov and J. Wang, *Categorical symmetry of the Standard Model from gravitational anomaly*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2302.14862.

- [117] F. Carta, S. Giacomelli, N. Mekareeya and A. Mininno, Comments on non-invertible symmetries in Argyres-Douglas theories, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 135 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2023)135.
- [118] M. Koide, Y. Nagoya and S. Yamaguchi, Noninvertible symmetries and boundaries in four dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 108, 065009 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.108.065009.
- [119] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Generalized charges, part I: Invertible symmetries and higher representations, SciPost Phys. 16, 093 (2024), doi:10.21468/SciPost-Phys.16.4.093.
- [120] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore and A. Grigoletto, *Higher representations for extended operators*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2304.03789.
- [121] N. Yamamoto and R. Yokokura, Generalized chiral instabilities, linking numbers, and non-invertible symmetries, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 045 (2023), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2023)045.
- [122] A. Kapustin and N. Saulina, *Surface operators in 3d topological field theory and 2d rational conformal field theory*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1012.0911.
- [123] J. Fuchs, C. Schweigert and A. Valentino, *Bicategories for boundary conditions and for surface defects in 3-d TFT*, Commun. Math. Phys. **321**, 543 (2013), doi:10.1007/s00220-013-1723-0.
- [124] D. S. Freed and C. Teleman, *Topological dualities in the Ising model*, Geom. Topol. 26, 1907 (2022), doi:10.2140/gt.2022.26.1907.
- [125] M. A. Levin and X.-G. Wen, String-net condensation: A physical mechanism for topological phases, Phys. Rev. B 71, 045110 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.71.045110.
- [126] E. Sharpe, *An introduction to decomposition*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2204.09117.
- [127] M. Nguyen, Y. Tanizaki and M. Ünsal, Noninvertible 1-form symmetry and Casimir scaling in 2D Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 104, 065003 (2021), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevD.104.065003.
- [128] S. Mac Lane, Categories for the working mathematician, Springer, New York, USA, ISBN 9781441931238 (1978), doi:10.1007/978-1-4757-4721-8.
- [129] G. Moore and N. Seiberg, Classical and quantum conformal field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 123, 177 (1989), doi:10.1007/BF01238857.
- [130] D. Aasen, R. S. K. Mong and P. Fendley, *Topological defects on the lattice: I. The Ising model*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49, 354001 (2016), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/49/35/354001.
- [131] V. G. Turaev and O. Y. Viro, State sum invariants of 3-manifolds and quantum 6j-symbols, Topology 31, 865 (1992), doi:10.1016/0040-9383(92)90015-A.
- [132] J. Barrett and B. Westbury, *Invariants of piecewise-linear 3-manifolds*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **348**, 3997 (1996), doi:10.1090/S0002-9947-96-01660-1.
- [133] D. Gaiotto and J. Kulp, Orbifold groupoids, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 132 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2021)132.

- [134] F. Apruzzi, F. Bonetti, I. García Etxebarria, S. S. Hosseini and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Symmetry TFTs from string theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 402, 895 (2023), doi:10.1007/s00220-023-04737-2.
- [135] D. S. Freed, Introduction to topological symmetry in QFT, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2212.00195.
- [136] W. Ji and X.-G. Wen, Categorical symmetry and noninvertible anomaly in symmetrybreaking and topological phase transitions, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 033417 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.033417.
- [137] X.-C. Wu, W. Ji and C. Xu, Categorical symmetries at criticality, J. Stat. Mech. 073101 (2021), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ac08fe.
- [138] A. Chatterjee and X.-G. Wen, Symmetry as a shadow of topological order and a derivation of topological holographic principle, Phys. Rev. B 107, 155136 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.107.155136.
- [139] A. Chatterjee and X.-G. Wen, Holographic theory for continuous phase transitions: Emergence and symmetry protection of gaplessness, Phys. Rev. B 108, 075105 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.108.075105.
- [140] A. Chatterjee, W. Ji and X.-G. Wen, *Emergent generalized symmetry and maximal symmetry-topological-order*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2212.14432.
- [141] T. Lichtman, R. Thorngren, N. H. Lindner, A. Stern and E. Berg, Bulk anyons as edge symmetries: Boundary phase diagrams of topologically ordered states, Phys. Rev. B 104, 075141 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.104.075141.
- [142] A. Kitaev and L. Kong, *Models for gapped boundaries and domain walls*, Commun. Math. Phys. **313**, 351 (2012), doi:10.1007/s00220-012-1500-5.
- [143] C. Meusburger, State sum models with defects based on spherical fusion categories, Adv. Math. 429, 109177 (2023), doi:10.1016/j.aim.2023.109177.
- [144] U. Haagerup, Principal graphs of subfactors in the index range $4 < [M:N] < 3 + \sqrt{2}$, in Subfactors, World Scientific, Singapore, ISBN 9789814559719 (1994), doi:10.1142/2394.
- [145] M. Asaeda and U. Haagerup, Exotic subfactors of finite depth with Jones indices $(5 + \sqrt{13})/2$ and $(5 + \sqrt{17})/2$, Commun. Math. Phys. **202**, 1 (1999), doi:10.1007/s002200050574.
- [146] P. Grossman and N. Snyder, Quantum subgroups of the haagerup fusion categories, Commun. Math. Phys. 311, 617 (2012), doi:10.1007/s00220-012-1427-x.
- [147] N. Carqueville, I. Runkel and G. Schaumann, Orbifolds of n-dimensional defect TQFTs, Geom. Topol. 23, 781 (2019), doi:10.2140/gt.2019.23.781.
- [148] M. L. Frauenberger, *Condensation monads in low dimension*, MSc thesis, Universität Wien, Vienna, Austria (2022), doi:10.25365/thesis.72024.
- [149] A. Kitaev, Anyons in an exactly solved model and beyond, Ann. Phys. 321, 2 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2005.10.005.
- [150] J. W. Barrett, C. Meusburger and G. Schaumann, *Gray categories with duals and their diagrams*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1211.0529.

- [151] M. Barkeshli, P. Bonderson, M. Cheng, C.-M. Jian and K. Walker, Reflection and time reversal symmetry enriched topological phases of matter: Path integrals, nonorientable manifolds, and anomalies, Commun. Math. Phys. 374, 1021 (2019), doi:10.1007/s00220-019-03475-8.
- [152] D. Bulmash and M. Barkeshli, Absolute anomalies in (2+1)D symmetry-enriched topological states and exact (3+1)D constructions, Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 043033 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.043033.
- [153] S. Tata, R. Kobayashi, D. Bulmash and M. Barkeshli, Anomalies in (2+1)D fermionic topological phases and (3+1)D path integral state sums for fermionic SPTs, Commun. Math. Phys. 397, 199 (2022), doi:10.1007/s00220-022-04484-w.
- [154] R. Kobayashi and M. Barkeshli, (3+1)D path integral state sums on curved U(1) bundles and U(1) anomalies of (2+1)D topological phases, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2111.14827.
- [155] R. Dijkgraaf and E. Witten, *Topological gauge theories and group cohomology*, Commun. Math. Phys. **129**, 393 (1990), doi:10.1007/BF02096988.
- [156] D. N. Yetter, TQFT'S from homotopy 2-types, J. Knot Theory Ramif. 02, 113 (1993), doi:10.1142/S0218216593000076.
- [157] J. Faria Martins and T. Porter, On Yetter's invariant and an extension of the Dijkgraaf-Witten invariant to categorical groups, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.math/0608484.
- [158] L. Crane and D. N. Yetter, *A categorical construction of 4D TQFTs*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/9301062.
- [159] L. Crane, L. H. Kauffman and D. N. Yetter, *State-sum invariants of 4-manifolds*, J. Knot Theory Ramif. 06, 177 (1997), doi:10.1142/S0218216597000145.
- [160] H. Ooguri, Topological lattice models in four dimensions, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 07, 2799 (1992), doi:10.1142/S0217732392004171.
- [161] S. X. Cui, Four dimensional topological quantum field theories from G-crossed braided categories, Quantum Topol. **10**, 593 (2019), doi:10.4171/qt/128.
- [162] K. Walker, A universal state sum, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2104.02101.
- [163] S. D. Pace and X.-G. Wen, Exact emergent higher-form symmetries in bosonic lattice models, Phys. Rev. B 108, 195147 (2023), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.108.195147.
- [164] D. S. Freed and M. J. Hopkins, *Reflection positivity and invertible topological phases*, Geom. Topol. 25, 1165 (2021), doi:10.2140/gt.2021.25.1165.
- [165] J. Fuchs and T. Grøsfjeld, *Tetrahedral symmetry of 6j-symbols in fusion categories*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra **227**, 107112 (2023), doi:10.1016/j.jpaa.2022.107112.
- [166] L. Kong and X.-G. Wen, Braided fusion categories, gravitational anomalies, and the mathematical framework for topological orders in any dimensions, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1405.5858.
- [167] J. Wang, X.-G. Wen and E. Witten, Symmetric gapped interfaces of SPT and SET states: Systematic constructions, Phys. Rev. X 8, 031048 (2018), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevX.8.031048.

- [168] A. Kitaev, Anyons in an exactly solved model and beyond, Ann. Phys. 321, 2 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2005.10.005.
- [169] C. Delcamp, Tensor network approach to electromagnetic duality in (3 + 1)d topological gauge models, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 149 (2022), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2022)149.
- [170] A. Bullivant and C. Delcamp, Gapped boundaries and string-like excitations in (3+1)d gauge models of topological phases, J. High Energy Phys. 07, 025 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2021)025.
- [171] T. D. Décoppet, *Finite semisimple module 2-categories*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2107.11037.
- [172] V. Ostrik, Module categories, weak Hopf algebras and modular invariants, Transform. Groups 8, 177 (2003), doi:10.1007/s00031-003-0515-6.
- [173] N. Carqueville, I. Runkel and G. Schaumann, *Orbifolds of Reshetikhin-Turaev TQFTs*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1809.01483.
- [174] T. D. Décoppet, Rigid and separable algebras in fusion 2-categories, Adv. Math. 419, 108967 (2023), doi:10.1016/j.aim.2023.108967.
- [175] D. Gaitsgory, Sheaves of categories and the notion of 1-affineness, in Stacks and categories in geometry, topology, and algebra, American Mathematical Society, Providence, USA, ISBN 9781470415570 (2015), doi:10.1090/CONM/643.
- [176] T. Johnson-Freyd and D. Reutter, *Minimal nondegenerate extensions*, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 37, 81 (2023), doi:10.1090/jams/1023.
- [177] T. D. Décoppet, Drinfeld centers and morita equivalence classes of fusion 2-categories, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2211.04917.
- [178] L. Chang, M. Cheng, S. X. Cui, Y. Hu, W. Jin, R. Movassagh, P. Naaijkens, Z. Wang and A. Young, On enriching the Levin-Wen model with symmetry, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 12FT01 (2015), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/12/12FT01.
- [179] C. Heinrich, F. Burnell, L. Fidkowski and M. Levin, Symmetry-enriched string nets: Exactly solvable models for SET phases, Phys. Rev. B 94, 235136 (2016), doi:10.1103/Phys-RevB.94.235136.
- [180] M. Cheng, Z.-C. Gu, S. Jiang and Y. Qi, *Exactly solvable models for symmetry-enriched topological phases*, Phys. Rev. B **96**, 115107 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.96.115107.